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In carrying out its mission of being the world’s partner in construction, Team EEI 
is FOCUSED and continues to capitalize on its strengths in providing value to its 
clients.

As we approach our 80th Anniversary, we will remain FOCUSED and will gear 
ourselves up with the skills and expertise to conquer any project that can be dreamt.  
We will fix our eyes on our vision and achieve it by remaining faithful to our values.

Being FOCUSED is what will bring us closer to our target, to a stronger and globally-
competitive EEI.
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financial highlights

EEI Corporation and Subsidiaries
In Million Pesos, except financial ratios and per share data
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For the Year
Revenues
EBITDA
Net Income
Earnings per Share

6,267
1,012

563
0.544

9,190
1,119

506
0.489

At Year End
Total Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Bank Loans
Stockholders’ Equity

8,177
886

1,497
3,256

7,839
1,179
1,811
2,763

Financial Ratios
Current Ratio
Debt-to-Equity Ratio
Book Value per Share

1.30:1.00
1.51:1.00

3.14

1.24:1.00
1.84:1.00

2.67

2009 2008
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Message to shareholders
We Kept Our Focus

ver the last few years, we have been enhancing our hiring, training and 
manpower development programs, improving our business systems and 
operation processes, and strengthening our relationships with our customers.   
Continuous improvement has always been our goal and doing the right 

things in the right way is what we constantly aspire. These actions have boosted our 
performance during the last year and have improved our competitive position.

The year that passed was another fruitful year for EEI. The strategies that we drew 
up and executed have been working well and proved to be effective even against a 
backdrop of an economy in a worldwide recession. With a net income of P563.2 
million, 11% higher than the previous year, 2009 was the best year yet for EEI.

EEI was recognized by Asiamoney as the Philippines’ best managed company in the 
small capital category in Asia for 2009. The publication cited EEI’s proactive stand 
and aggressive pursuit of projects despite the financial crisis resulting in the more 
than 200% increase in its share price compared to the Philippine Stock Exchange 
index benchmark of 57%.

Recently, EEI was also recognized by Corporate Governance Asia – the region’s 
most authoritative publication on Corporate Governance – for its practices and 
commitment to high standards of corporate governance and corporate social 
responsibility.

As a testament to our core value of Safety, Al Rushaid Construction Company Ltd., 
EEI’s joint venture company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, completed the Sharq 
Project with 42 million safe manhours without lost time incident from the start of the 
project until its completion in October, 2009.

We are honored by the recognition and awards we have received, though our 
motivations are not the awards but the desire to serve our clients and other stakeholders 
in the best way we can. As always, we owe our success to our customers, and more 
importantly, to our dedicated team of employees.

O
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Going Where the Work Is

Since the 1970s, EEI has been bringing Filipino 
expertise overseas. When the local construction 
industry contracted, EEI aggressively expanded 
its overseas operations to make up for the 
weakness of the domestic market. This road 
we took generated remarkable results for the 
Company.

The Middle East market still remains strong and 
EEI will continue to capitalize on its established 
presence in the region as a preferred contractor 
for heavy industrial projects. EEI will continue 
to leverage on its strengths and accumulated 
experience in the petrochemical, oil and gas, 
power, and mining sectors as well as on its 
other core competencies of building, module 
fabrication and horizontal construction to gear-up 
for other markets like Singapore, Guam, Papua 
New Guinea and Qatar where construction 
needs in these fields are expected to grow. 

We see a resurgence in domestic construction 
and our foundations are still well rooted in the 
local construction market. We are looking at 
many new prospects in light and heavy industrial 
construction, as well as in the fabrication of 
engineered structures and modular assemblies.  
We will assess all opportunities and optimize 
our resources. And as long as it is consistent with 
our strategies, EEI will be there.

Thrusts of the Company

We will continue to pursue heavy industrial 
prospects in Saudi Arabia, Qatar, Singapore, 
Papua New Guinea and wherever these well-
funded projects are located.

Recruitment and training activities will continue 
to be a priority, to make sure that the needed 
management, supervisory and skilled workers 
will be available at the time that they are needed.  

At the same time, we will develop the talent and 
additional skills that will make the organization 
more robust and flexible, to increase its capability 
of addressing a wider range of customer needs.

In 2007, the Company began a modernization 
program of equipment and machinery to build 
production capacity in response to the increasing 
number of projects and in anticipation of higher 
demand. This modernization program, which 
involves significant capital expenditures, includes 
the modernization of the equipment and software 
used in its Steel Fabrication Shop as well as the 
purchase and upgrading of mobile and stationary 
lifting equipment. This program will continue for 
the next few years as the Company works towards 
being more competitive in the rapidly growing 
international market for structural and modular steel 
fabrication.

We are also improving our business processes.  
Programs and other initiatives that have been 
made towards development in logistics and supply 
chain management systems have led to more 
efficient use of resources and quicker service 
delivery. Programs will also be introduced in the 
equipment management and maintenance scheme 
to increase reliability. Alliances and partnerships 
with other players in the value chain are being 
developed, to improve operating efficiencies and 
competitiveness.

Systems have been installed to improve risk 
management, safety, quality and efficiency through 
management control processes and monitoring.  
Innovative approaches and new methodologies are 
also being developed for building and infrastructure 
projects to speed up completion time of projects 
which will improve our margins.

Management believes that the growth objectives 
can be achieved by gearing the organization to 
be the best consistently and making it a preferred 
global player in the construction industry.  
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All our efforts will be done with a keen eye clearly focused and consciously aware of the effects 
of our activities on the environment. We will always uphold freedom from harm and look at the 
improvement of the quality of life of our employees and their families. This is our commitment.

Staying Focused

We would like to thank the Board of Directors for the valuable direction and guidance that they 
constantly give; the employees who compose Team EEI – for the hard work, dedication and 
commitment to quality, safety, and advocacy of our values of integrity and service; the clients, 
for the trust and for the opportunities they give us to serve them; our suppliers for the partnership 
and support; and all shareholders, for the continued confidence that you have put in EEI.

Today, our direction remains clear and we intend to continue maintaining top-level performance 
in the years ahead. Team EEI is focused and will keep its focus on the opportunities to grow our 
business and ensure our long-term profitability.

RIZALINO S. NAVARRO
Chairman of the Board

ROBERTO JOSE L. CASTILLO
President and CEO



72 0 0 9  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

EI Corporation, after 79 years of existence, is a 
strong and robust company, ready to take on the 
challenges of the changing business environment 
that it is in. EEI has chosen to focus its efforts on its 

core businesses and this effectively defines its avenues for 
growth.

Our commitment to delivering on-time services, at world-
class quality standards, and with the highest regard for 
health and safety in the workplace are some of things 
that have made EEI a preferred contractor of global 
Engineering, Procurement and Construction (EPC) 
Companies and a contractor and engineering services 
provider of choice for the construction of buildings, roads 
and bridges, and industrial plants and facilities.

This is the EEI brand that will carry the company through 
the next decade of growth.

FOCUS ON TRAINING

A comprehensive technical crafts training and development 
program has been in implementation over the last few 
years.

EEI has associated with government institutions such as 
the Technical Education and Skills Development Authority 
(TESDA) and private entities such as St. Patrick College.  
It has also partnered with Ang Mananampalatayang 
Gumagawa Skilled Hands Training Center, Inc. (AMG), 
a non-government organization, and has built an 
Electro-Mechanical Plant Facility Simulator and Welding 

Laboratory to provide hands-on training in a simulated 
working environment.

Skills upgrading and management training programs have 
also been launched to advance the careers and provide 
growth and new knowledge for the professionals, since 
the demand for such is expected to escalate as well.

Training will continue to be a priority to ensure that the 
Company will be able to supply the required manpower 
with the appropriate skills for its planned expansion.

FOCUS ON COMPETENCIES

EEI’s experience in the construction and installation of 
facilities in power, petrochemical, mining, and oil and 
gas plants has created for the Company a reputation in 
electro-mechanical installations, both here and abroad, 
and has made EEI a preferred choice of EPCs.

Our teams of skilled and motivated workers readily take 
on the challenges put before them and constantly seek 
new techniques to assure our clients of satisfaction. In 
the construction of buildings and infrastructure, much has 
been developed in our methodologies which have resulted 
in project completion months ahead of schedule.

To respond to the growing demand for fabricated 
steel structures, we have been working on increasing 
our fabrication capacity and capabilities both in the 
Philippines and in Saudi Arabia. We have been investing 
in state-of-the-art machines to ensure higher efficiencies 
and accuracy in the output of the work.

E
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Improvements are also taking place in our business processes. Through the Supply Chain Management 
System, EEI has streamlined its procurement system to make work faster and more effective. Through 
enhancements in the logistics, maintenance and reliability systems, economies are achieved and 
these advancements allow EEI to meet the demands of the construction industry.

FOCUS ON SAFETY

In EEI, a safe worker is a more productive worker. Aside from inculcating safety as a personal way 
of life, workers are made to be responsible for the safety and welfare of others as well. Knowing 
that colleagues are equally concerned with one’s personal safety gives a feeling of confidence in 
the workplace, which in turn increases productivity. By promoting safety, lost time and delays due to 
accidents are minimized, if not completely avoided.

In 2009, EEI once again recorded several milestone achievements through its safety performance in 
its various projects all over the world.

Projects with over 1 million Man Hours without lost time incident as of December 31, 2009 are:

LOCAL PROjECTS

Beacon Tower  –  1.1 million
Two Serendra Phase 2B –  6.6 million
St. Francis Towers  –  8.2 million
One Serendra Phase 2B  –  20.7 million

FOREIGN PROjECTS

National Chevron Philips Ethylene Plant North Plot Project  –  2.5 million
Shuqaiq II Independent Water Power Plant Project  – 10 million
Sharq Ethylene Project  – 42 million

EEI has taken safety to the next level. The very first Zero Accident Olympics was held in 2009 
which was organized and conducted by the Corporate Safety Department. The activity, meant to 
increase and promote employee safety awareness and improve safety attitudes through employee 
participation in safety work, was a huge success.

FOCUS ON QUALITY

EEI Corporation and all its facilities, including its Steel Fabrication Shop in Bauan, Batangas are 
certified with ISO 9001:2000, an international standard for quality management systems. In 2009, 
our joint venture company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Al Rushaid Construction Co., Ltd. 
became the first company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to be certified by TUV NORD Germany 
with ISO 9001:2008.

Our certifications serve as a testament of our high regard for world-class quality. We have long 
strived to remain the standard of quality and safety in our business. In 2009, EEI began the process 
of upgrading its quality management system to ISO 9001:2008. We will continue to strive for 
excellence in the quality of the products and services that we deliver.

8 2 0 0 9  a n n u a l  r e p o r t
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or two years in a row, the Philippine GDP growth slowed down, 
from 7.1% in 2007 to 3.8% in 2008 and to 0.9% in 2009, as 
the effects of the global recession continued to impact on the 
manufacturing sector, capital expansion, and most especially 

exports.

The construction sector’s growth went from 7.8% in 2008 to 5.8% in 
2009. As far as expenditure is concerned, construction spending in 
the public sector expanded from negative growth in 2008 to 15.7% 
in 2009, while the trend in private sector spending reversed, from 
8.2% growth in 2008 to a contraction of -4.2% in 2009.

Exports contracted by 14.2% in 2009, much larger than the 1.9% 
contraction the year before, owing to the sluggish demand in the 
West. The trade balance was -5.8% compared to a 2.4% growth in 
2008. In addition, the country was hit by a series of typhoons that 
created a big dent to the economy.

FEEI Corporation and 

subsidiaries posted a 

consolidated net income 

of P563.20 million, 

an 11% increase from 

the previous year’s net 

income of P506.33 

million.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

EEI Corporation and subsidiaries posted a 
consolidated net income of P563.20 million, 
an 11% increase from the previous year’s net 
income of P506.33 million. This translates to 
earnings per share of P0.54 for 2009 compared 
to P0.49 registered in 2008.

On a per revenue segment, domestic construction 
contracts suffered a 31% decline, from P5.77 
billion in 2008 to P4.00 billion in 2009, as 
a result of the contraction of the domestic 
construction sector. The slowdown in the 
economy can also be seen in the 34% decrease 
in revenue from services, from P3.11 billion to 
P2.04 billion, and the 47% decrease in real 
estate sales, from P190.36 million to P100.82 
million. There was, however a slight growth of 
4% in merchandise sales from P122.10 million 
to P127.08 million.

The contribution from its international businesses 
as reflected in equity in net earnings of associate 
and joint venture amounts to P530.36 million, a 
16% reduction from the P631.17 million posted 
in 2008. Other income amounting to P147.55 
million in 2009 likewise registered a 38% decline 
from the P237.16 million the previous year. On 
the other hand, interest income of P71.83 million 
rose 30% from P55.20 million earned the year 
before. 

As consolidated revenues decreased 32%, from 
P9.19 billion in 2008 to P6.27 billion in 2009, 
corresponding costs decreased 35% from P8.40 
billion to P5.44 billion, brought about mainly 
by the reduction in the costs of construction 
contracts, services, and real estate sales. This 
is a 4 point incremental improvement in the 
contribution margin rate, from 9% in 2008 to 
13% in 2009.

On the expense side, selling and administrative 
expenses were reduced by 9% (P570.80 million 
in 2009 versus P628.05 million in 2008) and 
finance costs by 10% (P246.04 million in 2009 
versus P273.25 million in 2008) owing to lower 
interest rates on borrowings for the year in review. 

These reductions, coupled with the increase in the 
contribution margin were significant contributors to 
the improvement in the net income.

Compared to year-end 2008 level, consolidated 
total assets increased 4% and breached the P8 
billion mark at P8.18 billion as of December 
31, 2009. While total current assets hardly 
changed, non-current assets increased by 19% 
largely due to investments in associate and joint 
venture, property, plant and equipment (PPE), and 
investment properties. Investments in associate and 
joint venture, which represents EEI’s 49% ownership 
in Al Rushaid Construction Company (ARCC), a 
company incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia (KSA), increased by 17%.  PPE also rose 
27% mainly due to the continuing modernization 
of its Steel Fabrication Plant in Batangas and 
the enhancement of the Company’s construction 
services through the purchase of new construction 
equipment and tools. Investment properties likewise 
increased 33% mainly due to receipt of various 
condominium units and parking lots worth P70 
million as payments in kind.

The Company’s current ratio improved, from 
1.24:1 in 2008 to 1.30:1 in 2009 largely due 
to lower accounts payable for the year in review.  
While total current liabilities decreased 6%, from 
P4.66 billion in 2008 to P4.40 billion in 2009, 
noncurrent liabilities registered a corresponding 
25% increase from P412.65 million to P516.45 
million. The latter’s increase was mainly due to 
issuance of private placement fixed-rate corporate 
promissory notes to various investors, proceeds of 
which were used for general corporate and project 
financing requirements. Overall, total liabilities 
registered a mere 3% decrease from the 2008 
level.

The 18% rise in total equity from P2.76 billion in 
2008 to P3.26 billion in 2009 was largely due 
to the 37% growth in retained earnings, from 
P1.26 billion to P1.72 billion. Complemented by a 
slight decrease in consolidated total liabilities, this 
improves the debt to equity ratios of the Company, 
from 1.84:1 as of end 2008 to 1.51:1 as of end 
2009.



112 0 0 9  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

A decrease in domestic construction activity was 
manifested in the latter part of 2008 as a result 
of the global recession and persisted throughout 
the first half of 2009. However, projects started 
to push in the second semester such that by 
yearend, new projects valued at P5.65 billion 
were awarded to the Company – a more-than 
two-fold increase compared to the P2.72 billion 
won in 2008.  On the other hand, the value 
of overseas projects registered the same level, 
hitting the P9 billion mark in both 2008 and 
2009.

Domestic orders backlog was booked at P5.83 
billion, a hefty 56% increase from the P3.73 
billion as of the end of 2008. The backlog of 
overseas projects, on the other hand, stood 
at P9.88 billion at yearend of 2009 from the 
P14.75 billion the previous year or a 33% 
decline.

EEI and subsidiaries’ combined manpower 
complement, deployed in overseas projects in 
Qatar, New Caledonia, Saudi Arabia, in the 
Batangas Steel Fabrication Shop, and in various 
projects all over the Philippines, peaked at 
16,557 personnel. As of December, 2009, 68% 
of the total work force was assigned overseas.

The Company’s joint venture, ARCC, completed 
in October, 2009 the contract packages for 
Eastern Petrochemical Company also known 
as the Sharq Third Expansion Project worth 
US$350 million. This project logged 42 million 
manhours without lost time incident, the highest 
ever achieved by ARCC in a single project.

In 2009, ARCC was awarded by JGC Arabia 
a subcontract package involving civil and 
mechanical works worth US$173 million for the 
National Chevron Phillips (NCP) Ethylene Plant 
North Plot Project in Jubail Industrial City, KSA.  
This project is expected to be completed in the 
third quarter of 2011.

Other projects of ARCC that comprise part of the 
backlog for 2010 are the Southern Area Flare 
System Upgrade Project for Saudi Aramco, which 
involves the replacement of flare tips in 28 Gas 
Oil Separation Plants to environmentally sound, 
smokeless flare tips; the Shuqaiq II Independent 
Water Power Plant Project of the Shuqaiq Water 
Electric Company under Mitsubishi Heavy Industries 
(MHI); and the Qurayyah Power Plant Project of 
Saudi Electricity Co., also under MHI.  All these 
projects are in the KSA.

In the second half of 2009, ARCC set up a pipe 
spool fabrication plant in Jubail, KSA to cater to 
the strong demand for pipe spools in the Saudi 
Arabian market and also to supply the requirements 
of neighboring countries.  The plant is equipped 
with state of the art machinery and is capable of 
welding 1,500 dia-inches a day.

Other ongoing overseas projects of EEI are the Inco 
Goro Nickel Mining Project in New Caledonia, 
which is nearing completion of the additional 
contracts acquired involving on-site piping, electro-
mechanical and structural erection of the plant; 
and the US$12 million Qatargas 3 & 4 Onshore 
Project for GAMA Qatar Company WLL under 
the Chiyoda-Technip Joint Venture which involves 
pipe erection works of inlet facilities which covers 
electro-mechanical works for utilities, offsite and 
off-plot areas, and is expected to be completed 
towards the end of 2010.

EEI is also providing construction services for 
overseas clients in its ISO 9001certified Steel 
Fabrication Plant located in Sta. Maria, Bauan, 
Batangas. In-progress is the package for the 
fabrication of Piperack Modules for Shaw Stone 
Webster Asia Inc. worth Sing $57 million for the 
Singapore Parallel Train (SPT) Olefins Recovery 
Project at Jurong Island, Singapore being built for 
Exxon Mobil Chemical Asia Pacific.

In the domestic scene, in 2009, EEI completed 
Packages 4A and 4B of the Ninoy Aquino 
International Airport (NAIA) 3 Nichols Skyway 
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Interchange Project for the Department of Public Works and Highways (DPWH); Phase 1 of 
the GA Skysuites in Quezon City for Globe Asiatique; and, the structural fabrication works, 
mechanical and electrical works for the Biscom Sugar Refinery Plant of the Chan group in 
Negros.

For the period in review, the Company acquired and is undertaking Phase 2 of the GA Skysuites 
Project in Quezon City of Globe Asiatique Realty Holdings Development Corporation; the 
NAIA 3 Nichols Skyway Interchange Project, Package 4C of Department of Public Works and 
Highways; refurbishment and performance improvement works on the Electrostatic Precipitator 
of Boiler Unit #1 of American Energy Service (AES) – Masinloc Power Partners Co. Ltd. 
in Zambales; the Princeton Residences Project of SM Development Corporation; the Sunlife 
Financial Philippines Headquarters Project of Sunlife of Canada; SM 2ECom Building Project 
of SM Land Incorporated; Acacia Grove Hotel and Condominiums Project of CHMI Hotels and 
Residences, Inc.; and the BSP Pampanga Branch Building of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas.

Still under construction are the 39-storey Mandarin Square Building of Manila Tower 
Corporation, which promises to be one of the tallest buildings in the Binondo district; the 
Beacon Tower 1 of New Pacific Resources Management, Inc.; the prestigious 60-storey twin-
tower St. Francis Shang Towers of the Shang Grand Tower Corporation which already stand 
as the tallest buildings in the country; One Serendra, Phase 2B and Two Serendra CII Phase 
2B, both for Ayala Group in Fort Bonifacio District, Taguig City. Likewise, the Company is 
undertaking the P2.84 billion joint venture project with Hanjin Heavy Industries & Construction 
Co. Ltd. for the construction of Berth 6 of the Manila International Container Terminal of 
Philippine global port operator International Container Terminal Services Inc.

SUBSIDIARIES

Equipment Engineers, Incorporated

Equipment Engineers, Inc. (EE) felt the brunt of the economic slowdown in 2009, as net income 
after tax fell 62% to P6.86 million, from P18.04 million the previous year.

Total revenue from machinery and equipment trading business fell 17% to P130.30 million, 
as domestic industries struggled to cope with uncertainties brought about by the business 
downturn by delaying or cancelling investments in fixed assets.  Potential sales were also 
lost to fierce price competition.  Indent commissions and sales of parts and services declined 
significantly.

Stymied by the private sector’s tepid capital spending, EE aggressively sought to benefit from 
the government’s economic stimulus thrust.  In the last quarter of the year, EE bagged a 
contract worth P287 million from the Department of Health (DOH) to design, install and 
commission fire safety and protection systems for 25 government hospitals nationwide.  Initial 
revenues from this contract bolstered EE’s 2009 performance, though the bulk of the income 
will be realized in 2010.

During the year, major orders for CETCO bentonite waterproofing materials (Voltex and 
Waterstop) were served for various property developments of SM Development, Filinvest Land, 
DMCI Homes, Ayala Land, and Globe Asiatique.
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Other major orders served were UPP fuel pipes 
for Pilipinas Shell and Petron; MAN B&W power 
generating set maintenance and spare parts for 
Nestle Philippines and San Miguel Yamamura 
Asia; BTI rockbreaking equipment for Philex 
Mining; Ametek transient recorder for Meralco; 
and Si-Rex03 silicone resin exterior paint for 
Britanny Corporation.

Moving forward, EE will seek to broaden 
its revenue base by building up its industrial 
maintenance service offerings as well as its 
contracting business, focusing on mechanical, 
electrical, plumbing and fire protection.  
Traditional turf markets will be vigorously 
protected via intensified coverage, purposive 
after-sales service, and expanded dealer 
network.

Underpinned by the DOH project, EE anticipates 
a reasonably better performance in 2010 
as the industrial machinery and equipment 
market guardedly emerges from the economic 
doldrums.

EEI Power Corporation

The country’s economic slowdown in 2008-2009 
tolled heavily on EEI Power Corporation (EEIPC).  
As many local industrial markets braced for the 
worst, customers for power plant overhauling, 
preventive maintenance and repair services 
deferred major planned expenses in an effort to 
weather the poor business conditions.

At the same time, the trend among industrial 
customers of shutting down or mothballing 
internal power generation operations due to 
high oil prices, and opting instead to obtain 
power from the local distribution grid, continued 
to negatively affect EEIPC’s business.  Total 
revenues amounted to P19.90 million, from 
P46.09 million in 2008.  Net income after tax 
was P4.40 million, compared to P8.75 million 
the previous year.

On the positive side, EEIPC made significant 
inroads in pushing the expansion of its service 

business into the maritime industry, successfully 
adding Magsaysay Shipping and Lorenzo 
Shipping as major accounts. Other major service 
engagements completed were with San Miguel 
Yamamura Asia, San Miguel Yamamura Packaging 
Specialists, Nestle Philippines, and NPC Alliance.

A package deal to sell, install, and commission 
its 1-MW genset and accompanying emergency 
spares was successfully closed with Isabela La 
Suerte Rice Mill.  Installation and commissioning 
work for this project will carry over into the first 
quarter of 2010. This project makes it possible 
for the client to shift to biomass fuel in the future 
to generate electricity for the facility’s rice milling 
operation.

Another project which involved the design, supply, 
installation and commissioning of a 3MVA, 69 
KV/480V sub-station for EEI’s Fabrication Shop in 
Bauan, Batangas was successfully completed and 
turned over.

Recognizing the potential of providing these types 
of products and services, EEIPC will beef up its 
electrical contracting capabilities by realigning 
and re-tooling its manpower resources and 
acquiring the necessary software to develop this 
competence into a significant long-term revenue 
stream.  EEIPC will likewise develop its capabilities 
in technologies involving biomass fuel and other 
forms of renewable energy.

EEI Construction and Marine Incorporated

In 2009, EEI Construction and Marine Incorporated 
(ECMI) generated revenues worth P204.09 million.  
While this is a decline from the revenues generated 
in 2008, the gross contribution of P66.62 million 
in 2009 is a 61% increase over that of the previous 
year’s. This is attributed to the improvement in 
ECMI’s operating efficiencies, resulting in a net 
income after tax of P28.14 million.

Majority of the projects obtained were from the 
traditional clients, particularly the three major oil 
companies in the Philippines, as well as from its 
parent company.
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ECMI constructed 233 tanks of various capacities for micro-filling stations for 
Petron Corporation.  ECMI also repaired various vertical cone roof tanks located 
in different parts of the country for Chevron; undertook piping works for Pilipinas 
Shell Petroleum Corporation in Poro Point, La Union; and, completed a project 
which involved the rebottomming of a 11,450 cubic meter tank for Pandacan 
Depot Services, Incorporated.

In addition, ECMI was subcontracted by EEI to construct a 3,000 cubic meter 
caustic soda vertical cone roof tank for Universal Harvester Inc., and a 5,470 
cubic meter capacity Motor Gas vertical cone roof tank for Phoenix Petroleum 
Philippines, Inc. in Batangas.

For 2010, ECMI is expecting to acquire more projects from oil sectors, particularly 
for the installation of ethanol facilities as provided for under Republic Act No. 
9367 also known as Biofuel Act of 2006; for the fabrication of underground 
tanks for micro-filling stations of Petron; and for the construction of new depots for 
Phoenix in various parts of the country.

EEI Realty Corporation

EEI Realty Corporation (ERC) continued its resilient performance from previous 
years into 2009. Its financial results showed that ERC had managed to weather the 
residual effects of the global recession on the Philippine real estate market.

In 2009, ERC registered gross revenues of P100.82 million, a markedly solid 
performance although representing a 47% decrease from the previous year’s total 
revenues. This resulted in a net income after tax of P9.13 million for 2009, a 31% 
decrease from 2008’s net income after tax of P13.27 million.

At year-end, ERC’s Suburbia East project in Marikina City registered cumulative 
sales and reservations of P882 million. 31 housing units with a total value of over 
P80 million were completed and turned-over to their respective owners, and 11 
housing units with a combined value of P18.81 million were still under construction.  
Simultaneously, site development works for Suburbia East Phase 3 were in-progress 
with more than 80% complete at the end of the year.
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ERC also rendered property management services for EEI Corporation in leasing 
out condominium units at Kingswood Condominium in Makati, and at Robinsons 
Place Residences in Ermita, Manila.

Sale of the remaining 54 house-and-lot units in Suburbia East is expected to 
comprise a major portion of ERC’s revenues in 2010.  At the same time, a joint 
venture with a housing constructor and marketing arm for socialized housing lots 
in its property in Grosvenor Place, Tanza, Trece Martires, Cavite is underway.

Just before the end of 2009, another joint venture arrangement covering the 
development of medium-rise condominiums on a 9,000 square meter residential 
property adjacent to Greenwoods, Cainta was under negotiation.

 
Gulf Asia International Corporation
GAIC Manpower Services, Incorporated

Gulf Asia International Corporation (GAIC), EEI Corporation’s manpower service 
contracting subsidiary, recorded satisfactory performance in 2009 showing 
positive financial growth for the fourth consecutive year.

The Company realized a consolidated net income of P27.60 million in 2009, 
a 22% increase compared to P22.58 million in the previous year.  This was the 
result of a 10% growth in consolidated revenues that totaled P310.24 million 
versus P282.74 million in 2008.

Substantial earnings were generated from the recruitment, processing and 
deployment of a large number of manpower for EEI’s overseas projects in Saudi 
Arabia, New Caledonia and Qatar.

Revenues from outside accounts declined slightly due to the slowdown of business 
and work activities of some of its major clients in Canada, Australia, Singapore 
and United Arab Emirates as an effect of the global financial crisis. Revenues 
for the year were sourced from traditional and some new clients in Libya, Saudi 
Arabia, Qatar, Malaysia, Slovenia and Papua New Guinea.

In 2009, the merger of GAIC Manpower Services, Incorporated (GAMSI) and 
GAIC Professional Services, Incorporated (GAPSI), both fully-owned subsidiaries 
of GAIC, was finalized with GAMSI as the surviving corporate entity.  GAMSI will 
continue to be GAIC’s domestic manpower supply subsidiary while absorbing 
and taking over all the outsourced accounting, administrative and other backroom 
services business that GAPSI used to provide.
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The merged GAMSI registered notable results 
in net earnings in 2009 amounting to P14.67 
million, a 17% increase versus the P12.55 
million combined net incomes of GAMSI and 
GAPSI the previous year.

During the year, GAMSI managed to acquire 
additional general and building maintenance 
manpower supply contracts, housekeeping and 
messengerial service contracts.

The business prospects for both the overseas 
and domestic manpower supply markets remain 
bright.  With the perception that the worst of the 
global economic turmoil is over, GAIC expects 
jobs to be opened anew in Australia, Canada 
and Singapore and a higher demand for Filipino 
workers in traditional markets such as Saudi 
Arabia, Qatar, UAE, and Malaysia.  GAIC will 
focus its efforts on these markets and probe other 
markets like New Zealand, Kuwait, Guam and 
Africa.

GAMSI will capitalize its expertise on skilled 
recruitment advantage and intensify its efforts to 
acquire more Building Maintenance manpower 
supply contracts.  It will expand its operations 
in the southern parts of the country, particularly 
in Cebu, Bacolod, Cagayan de Oro and 
Davao where EEI and GAIC maintain satellite 
recruitment offices, and will likewise explore the 
Southern Tagalog region as a potential market.  
As a continuing thrust, GAMSI will explore other 
related business opportunities.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Experts believe that a global rebound is underway 
and that the Philippine economy is expected to 
grow by about 3% to 4% in 2010 anchored on 
an expected recovery of both the industry and 
services sectors.  Public spending is expected 
to rise and overseas workers will continue to 
play an important role in the development and 
recovery.

The government is expected to provide the right 
environment for growth in key industries which 
includes construction and mining.  Improvements 
are likely to be done in infrastructure for basic 
utilities such as water and electricity, and recovery 
to be initiated in sectors that were affected by the 
typhoons.  There is also increased interest in biofuel 
and renewable energy which the private sector is 
looking into.

The recovery may be felt as orders from domestic 
operations are expected to increase in 2010.  
Some construction projects that were put on hold 
in 2008 and 2009 are being revived and the 
Company will continue to pursue these prospects.  
It will also continue to explore opportunities in the 
mining and power sectors.  There is an expected 
decrease of production in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia but inroads have been made outside the 
KSA and jobs from other countries might begin to 
trickle in.  And though the forecast for overseas 
construction is expected to be lower than 2009 
levels, EEI has participated in bids for projects that 
run up to 2012 which, if these materialize, could 
ramp up manpower requirements to double the 
current complement.

The Middle East market is expected to remain robust 
though, and the Company’s presence in the region, 
coupled with its safety and quality records, its 
reputation in electro-mechanical construction, and 
its experience in the oil, gas and petrochemicals, 
power, metal extraction and processing industries, 
offers the Company more opportunities to land 
some subcontract projects from global Engineering, 
Procurement and Construction Companies and thus 
makes management optimistic of its medium-term 
prospects.

Management will continue to strengthen its 
programs and install systems to improve its human 
resource management, supply chain management, 
productivity and quality management and its safety 
and overall risk management system.
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n 2006, EEI Corporation teamed up with Ang 
Mananampalatayang Gumagawa Skilled 
Hands Training Center Incorporated (AMG-
SHTCI) and built additional training facilities 
to provide values and skills to young men 

and women and prepare them for employment.  
In 2009, the training center produced more than 
430 graduates who have been deployed in various 
projects all over the Philippines and abroad.

EEI has also partnered with other government and 
private institutions which provide skills-training 
that gives its students opportunities for gainful 
employment.

In 2009, EEI had more than 16,500 workers in 
the company.

I
Creating jobs EEI amidst Ondoy

Last September 2009, Metro Manila was hit by 
Typhoon Ondoy, one of the most devastating typhoons 
in Philippine history.

The Company immediately formed a Disaster 
Management Group to aid the victims of the typhoon.  
The Group solicited canned goods, rice, bottled water, 
blankets, candles, and clothing, and distributed these 
in response to the immediate needs of the affected 
communities.  The company as well as employees, 
clients and suppliers donated funds for the victims.

EEI also supported private organizations by providing 
equipment that helped in the rescue of flood victims, 
and in relief and road-clearing operations. EEI buses 
and trucks went as far north as Pangasinan, and as far 
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south as Laguna to cooperate with groups such as the 15th 
Infantry Division in Fort Bonifacio, ABS-CBN Foundation, 
GMA-Kapuso Foundation, YGC Foundation, La Salle Green 
Hills Relief Operations, and Kaisa Para Sa Kaunlaran in their 
assistance operations.

EEI, Sharing in Building Community

It is common practice that when EEI projects are in remote 
locations, the project workers make it a point to help the 
surrounding community however possible. In New Caledonia, 
where the Goro Nickel Project site is located, EEI workers 
helped with the repair and rehabilitation of the church facilities 
and community shelters in nearby Touarorou Community.  
Interactions with the local residents were facilitated through 
involvement in sports, cooking, and sharing of meals with 
each other.

Sportsfests are also held in Saudi Arabia as these strengthen 
the bond between the Filipino workers and the Saudis and 
Nepalese who are employed in the project.

Strong community relationships build healthy communities.  
Last August, 2009, EEI Corporation, through its EEI Steel 
Fabrication Division, conducted a Medical and Dental 
Mission in Barangay Bolo, Bauan, Batangas. More than 
200 patients were served. Aside from the free consultancy 
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and tests that were administered, many of the patients also 
received free medicines.

EEI does its share in Values Promotion 
and Education

In 2009, a campaign called “Buhay Rizal Values Campaign” 
was launched by the Yuchengco Group of Companies, the 
purpose of which was to restore Rizalian Pride around the 
country in line with the belief that the values and teachings 
of Jose Rizal, our national hero, remain relevant and critical 
to nation building.

One of the programs of the campaign was the donation 
of books to various public schools all over the country.  In 
support of the program, EEI and its employees donated 
2,270 copies of Noli Me Tangere to Caloocan High School 
last August, 2009.

Summary

True sustainability, as far as EEI is concerned, calls for 
integrating into its business model being responsible for 
the impact of its activities on the environment and on the 
immediate communities. In view of its Corporate Social 
Responsibility, EEI will uphold the quality of life of its 
stakeholders and will help in building better communities.
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s early as 2002, EEI had already adopted a Manual on Corporate 
Governance patterned after the Code of Corporate Governance 
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and 
has since been complying with the practices and principles of the code 
because of its belief that good and balanced governance is key to the 

Company’s success.

Every year, EEI complies with the SEC Memorandum in accomplishing the 
required Corporate Governance Survey for publicly listed companies. The 
Company does its best to protect the interests and welfare of its shareholders, 
employees, suppliers, customers, and the publics that it serves, in the Philippines 
and overseas, and is committed to doing business at the highest ethical and 
legal standards.

This section describes the policies, procedures and codes that have been 
created to guide the Company in promoting good governance. All officers 
and employees of EEI, including consultants and contractors working in behalf 
of the Company are expected to conduct themselves in accordance with the 
highest principles of business ethics.

FRAUD POLICY AND PROCEDURES
The corporate fraud policy sets controls that aid in the prevention of fraud 
against the Company. It is meant to protect the revenue, property, reputation 
and other assets of EEI and its subsidiaries.

The Internal Audit and Legal Department have the primary responsibility for the 
investigation of all suspected fraudulent acts as defined in the policy.

POLICY ON CONFLICT OF INTEREST
The principal purpose of this Policy is to provide guidance to all employees to 
avoid situations where personal interests may conflict with the interests of EEI.

Though the Company respects the rights of its employees to privacy in their 
personal affairs, all employees should be free from the influence of conflicting 
interest in the conduct of their work.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Each activity that is done in the course of conducting business has accompanying 
risks. Since many of these risks cannot be eliminated, EEI has taken a proactive 
approach in managing these.

In 2008, EEI engaged external consultants to help in the development and 
installation of a risk management framework into its business model. A risk 
management group has been formed, headed by a Chief Risk Officer, to take 
care of installing the system and to continuously monitor and assess the major 
risks that the whole enterprise is exposed to.

In 2009, workshops on Risk Management were conducted in all departments 
of EEI as well as in our joint venture company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 
One of the outputs of the workshops is the Company Risk Inventory which 
identifies major threats and critical risk exposures of the company and of its 
outlying business and project deals.

A
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stateMent of ManageMent’s responsibility
for consolidated financial stateMents

The management of EEI Corporation is responsible for all information and representations contained 
in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS) and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and informed 
judgment of management with an appropriate consideration to materiality.

In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for 
the necessary internal controls to ensure that transactions are properly authorized and recorded, 
assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition and liabilities are recognized. The 
management likewise discloses to the Company’s audit committee and to its external auditor: (i) all 
significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls that could adversely affect its 
ability to record, process and report financial data; (ii) material weaknesses in the internal controls; 
and (iii) any fraud that involves management or other employees who exercise significant roles in 
internal controls.

The Board of Directors reviews the consolidated financial statements before such statements are 
approved and submitted to the stockholders of the Company.

Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, has examined 
the consolidated financial statements of the Company in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in the Philippines and has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation 
upon completion of such examination, in its report to the Board of Directors and stockholders.

 RIZALINO S. NAVARRO ROBERTO JOSE L. CASTILLO GAUDENCIO S. HERNANDEZ, JR.
 Chairman President  Senior Vice President
 Board of Directors  & Chief Executive Officer  & Chief Finance Officer
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independent auditors’ report

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
EEI Corporation
No. 12 Manggahan Street
Bagumbayan, Quezon City

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EEI Corporation and Subsidiaries, which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated 
statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity 
and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits 
in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
 
Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EEI 
Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, and their financial performance and their 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Cyril Jasmin B. Valencia
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 90787
SEC Accreditation No. 0782-A
Tax Identification No. 162-410-623
PTR No. 2087579, January 4, 2010, Makati City

March 19, 2010
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  December 31 
 2009 2008 2007
ASSETS   
Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 4, 26, 31
    and 32) P886,219,954 P1,179,353,668 P658,662,935
Receivables - net (Notes 5, 14, 31 and 32) 2,325,690,703 2,182,248,901 1,703,828,652
Due from related parties (Notes 26, 31 and 32) 331,628,115 55,152,923 144,644,747
Costs and estimated earnings in excess
    of billings on uncompleted contracts (Note 6) 1,414,538,588 1,462,204,512 1,185,635,890
Inventories (Notes 7, 14 and 16) 447,639,335 484,851,034 565,850,076
Available-for-sale securities - current portion
    (Notes 10, 31 and 32) – 58,734,354 58,734,354
Other current assets (Note 8) 283,731,045 356,833,488 456,713,099
 5,689,447,740 5,779,378,880 4,774,069,753
Land and building classified as held for 
  sale (Note 11) 33,862,454 – –
Total Current Assets 5,723,310,194 5,779,378,880 4,774,069,753
Noncurrent Assets   
Available-for-sale securities - net of current
    portion (Notes 10, 31 and 32) 102,945,543 46,835,216 40,404,818
Investments in associate and joint 
    venture (Note 9) 729,762,175 623,741,437 462,246,426
Property, plant and equipment - net 
    (Notes 11 and 16) 738,195,677 581,835,985 371,607,714
Investment properties - net (Notes 12, 14, 35 
    and 36) 300,593,619 226,814,531 220,791,955
Deferred tax assets (Note 25) 117,803,712 106,241,434 93,320,278
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 13, 26, 27, 31
    and 32) 463,895,197 474,139,316 500,619,898
Total Noncurrent Assets 2,453,195,923 2,059,607,919 1,688,991,089
 P8,176,506,117 P7,838,986,799 P6,463,060,842
   

(Forward)

eei corporation and subsidiaries 
consolidated stateMents of financial position
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  December 31 
 2009 2008 2007
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   
Current Liabilities   
Bank loans (Notes 14, 26, 31 and 32) P1,174,617,298 P1,342,900,000 P1,005,375,000
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
    (Notes 15, 27, 31 and 32) 1,463,973,612 1,755,743,786 1,370,051,081
Income tax payable (Note 25) 138,552,362 211,600,938 99,312,959
Due to related parties (Notes 26, 31 and 32) 18,484,047 6,045,336 7,642,536
Customers’ deposits 14,356,504 16,839,177 17,831,699
Billings in excess of costs and estimated
    earnings on uncompleted contracts (Note 6) 1,450,888,383 1,187,107,206 1,103,140,806
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 16, 26,
    31 and 32) 143,333,334 143,333,334 10,000,000
Total Current Liabilities 4,404,205,540 4,663,569,777 3,613,354,081

Noncurrent Liabilities   
Long-term debt - net of current portion 
    (Notes 16, 26, 31 and 32) 478,678,905 324,386,653 486,038,581
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 25) 5,748,395 7,142,096 11,850,444
Other noncurrent liabilities (Note 13) 32,022,531 81,122,216 106,452,196
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 516,449,831 412,650,965 604,341,221
Total Liabilities 4,920,655,371 5,076,220,742 4,217,695,302

Equity   
Capital stock (Notes 17 and 34)   
    Authorized - 2,000,000,000 shares   
    Common shares - P1 par value   
    Issued and subscribed 1,053,265,596 1,053,265,596 1,053,265,596
    Subscription receivable (16,864,210) (16,864,210) (17,014,314)
 1,036,401,386 1,036,401,386 1,036,251,282
Additional paid-in capital (Note 34) 477,028,378 476,996,795 476,270,490
Cumulative translation adjustment (Note 9) 24,883,726 (8,747,858) (76,993,198)
Retained earnings (Note 30) 1,716,438,665 1,256,874,296 802,353,425
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities
    (Note 10) 4,819,381 4,962,228 11,204,331
Treasury stock (3,720,790) (3,720,790) (3,720,790)
Total Equity 3,255,850,746 2,762,766,057 2,245,365,540
 P8,176,506,117 P7,838,986,799 P6,463,060,842
   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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eei corporation and subsidiaries 
consolidated stateMents of incoMe

 Years Ended December 31 
 2009 2008 2007
REVENUE (Note 29)   
    Construction contracts P3,999,132,323 P5,766,328,870 P5,304,533,181
    Services 2,040,054,406 3,111,635,408 1,853,453,038
    Merchandise sales 127,077,721 122,096,515 149,621,479
    Real estate sales 100,818,792 190,362,769 175,135,335
 6,267,083,242 9,190,423,562 7,482,743,033
Equity in net earnings of associate and joint
    venture (Note 9) 530,362,860  631,166,417 356,223,179
Interest income (Notes 4 and 23) 71,826,639 55,194,740 64,365,057
Other income (Notes 24 and 29) 147,546,306 237,160,169 81,236,025
 7,016,819,047 10,113,944,888  7,984,567,294
COSTS (Note 29)   
    Construction contracts (Notes 11, 12, 18,
        22 and 27) 3,400,512,285 5,275,528,017 5,005,063,022
    Services (Notes 19 and 27) 1,845,274,302 2,870,032,806 1,659,167,144
    Merchandise sales (Notes 11, 12, 20, 22
        and 27) 119,180,654 102,938,275 115,298,386
    Real estate sales 73,950,724 147,744,885 131,892,931
 5,438,917,965 8,396,243,983 6,911,421,483
SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE
    EXPENSES (Notes 11, 12, 21, 22 and 29) 570,802,783 628,052,482 441,243,550

FINANCE COSTS AND OTHER EXPENSES   
    Interest expense - short term debt (Note 29) 186,526,457 215,175,821 102,843,328
    Interest expense - long term debt (Note 29) 23,603,713 43,061,936 63,558,496
    Foreign exchange loss - net (Notes 29 
        and 32) 35,913,273 15,015,342 50,579,084
 246,043,443 273,253,099 216,980,908
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX (Note 29) 761,054,856 816,395,324 414,921,353
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Notes 25 
    and 29)   
    Current 210,806,322 327,691,298 137,503,611
    Deferred (12,955,979) (17,629,504) (26,667,062)
 197,850,343 310,061,794 110,836,549
NET INCOME (Notes 28 and 29) P 563,204,513 P 506,333,530 P 304,084,804

Earnings Per Share - Basic and Diluted 
    (Note 28) P0.5435 P0.4886 P0.2935
   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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eei corporation and subsidiaries 
consolidated stateMents of coMprehensive incoMe

 Years Ended December 31 
 2009 2008 2007
NET INCOME P563,204,513 P506,333,530 P304,084,804
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
    Cumulative translation adjustments (Note 9) 33,631,584 68,245,340 (108,285,561)
    Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale
        securities (Note 10) (142,847) (6,242,103) 11,204,331
 33,488,737 62,003,237 (97,081,230)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P596,693,250 P568,336,767 P207,003,574
   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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eei corporation and subsidiaries 
consolidated stateMents of cash flows

   
 Years Ended December 31 
 2009 2008 2007
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Income before income tax  P 761,054,856 P 816,395,324 P 414,921,353
Adjustments for:   
    Interest expense 210,130,170 258,237,757 166,401,824
    Depreciation and amortization
        (Notes 11, 12 and 22) 112,824,363 100,056,622 61,058,912
    Effects of exchange rates 101,445,930 (1,001,673) 50,579,084
    Retirement expense (Note 27) 63,220,191 53,757,360 66,223,419
    Equity in net earnings of associate and joint 
        venture (Note 9) (530,362,860) (631,166,417) (356,223,179)
    Interest income (Note 23) (71,826,639) (55,194,740) (64,365,057)
    Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
        (Note 24) (8,255,565) _ _
    Gain on sale of available-for-sale securities (430,000) _ _
Operating income before changes in working capital  637,800,446 541,084,233 338,596,356
    Decrease (increase) in:   
        Receivables (209,915,277) (479,337,305) 214,203,459
        Due from related parties 115,965,857 89,491,824 (95,550,797)
        Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
            on uncompleted contracts 37,831,698 (275,733,000) (335,959,557)
        Inventories 37,211,699 80,999,042 54,654,305
        Other current assets 73,102,443 99,879,611 (226,462,230)
    Increase (decrease) in:    
        Accounts payable and accrued expenses (294,457,680) 379,843,059 (43,813,416)
        Due to related parties 12,438,711 (1,597,200) (151,613,138)
        Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings
            on uncompleted contracts 263,781,177 83,966,400 (214,131,608)
Net cash generated from (used for) operations  673,759,074 518,596,664 (460,076,626)
Interest received 67,513,161 62,781,577 56,778,220
Interest paid (214,591,791) (255,620,092) (170,771,268)
Income taxes paid (283,854,898) (215,403,319) (84,152,168)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 242,825,546 110,354,830 (658,221,842)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from disposal of:    
    Property, plant and equipment 15,393,716 11,065,496 8,784,753
    Available-for-sale securities (Note 10) 2,911,180 _ _
    Investments in associate and joint ventures (Note 9) _ 2,000,000 646,252
Net reductions in (additions to):   
    Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) (297,781,122) (321,147,273) (235,431,269)
    Investment properties (Note 12) _ (7,061,314) _
    Available-for-sale securities (Note 10) _ (12,672,501) 2,412,500
    Other noncurrent assets (48,458,185) (52,271,880) (95,530,486)
Dividends paid (Note 30) (103,640,144) (51,812,659) _
Dividends received (Note 9) – 551,933,761 63,706,537
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (431,574,555) 120,033,630 (255,411,713)

(Forward)
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 Years Ended December 31  
 2009 2008 2007
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from:   
    Bank loans P2,797,316,525 P2,188,960,835 P446,935,834
    Long-term debt (Note 16) 300,000,000 _ _
Payment of:   
    Bank loans (2,965,599,227) (1,851,435,885) (289,209,489)
    Long-term debt (145,707,748) (28,318,594) (46,082,725)
Increase (decrease) in other noncurrent liabilities (49,099,685) (25,329,980) 104,202,428
Receipt from subscription receivables (Note 28) 31,583 876,409 7,128,129
Net proceeds from stock rights offering (Note 34) _ _ 525,197,741
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (63,058,552) 284,752,785 748,171,918

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON
    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (41,326,153) 5,549,488 10,032,062
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
    CASH EQUIVALENTS (293,133,714) 520,690,733 (155,429,575)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
    AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,179,353,668 658,662,935 814,092,510
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
    END OF YEAR P 886,219,954 P 1,179,353,668 P 658,662,935
   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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eei corporation and subsidiaries 
notes to consolidated stateMents

1.  Corporate Information 

 EEI Corporation (the Parent Company) is a stock corporation incorporated on April 17, 1931 under the laws of the Philippines. The Parent Company is a subsidiary of House of 
Investments, Inc., which is also incorporated in the Philippines. The ultimate parent company of EEI Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the Group) is Pan 
Malayan Management and Investment Corporation (PMMIC). The registered office address of the Parent Company is No. 12 Manggahan Street, Bagumbayan, Quezon City.

 The Parent Company’s shares of stock are listed and are currently trading at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).

 The Parent Company is engaged in general contracting and construction equipment rental. The Parent Company’s subsidiaries, associate and joint venture are mainly involved 
in the provision of manpower services, construction, trading of construction equipment and parts, power generation, steel fabrication and real estate.

 The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group were approved and authorized for issue by its Board of Directors (BOD) on March 19, 2010.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 Basis of Preparation
 The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale (AFS) securities which have been measured 

at fair value.  The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P), which is also the Parent Company’s functional currency.  Except as 
indicated, all amounts are rounded off to the nearest peso.

 Statement of Compliance
 The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

 Changes in Accounting Policies
 The accounting policies adopted by the Group are consistently applied to similar transactions and events with those of the previous financial years except for the adoption of the 

following new and revised Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and PFRS which were adopted as of January 1, 2009. Except as indicated, adoption of these changes did 
not have any significant effect to the Group:

•	 Amendments	to	PFRS	7,	Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 The Amendments require additional disclosure about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value measurements are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a 

three-level fair value hierarchy for each class of financial instruments recognized at fair value. In addition, a reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for 
level 3 fair value measurements is now required, as well as significant transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy. The Amendments also clarify the requirements for 
liquidity risk disclosures with respect to derivative transactions and financial assets used for liquidity management. The fair value measurement disclosures are presented in 
Note 31, while the liquidity risk disclosures of the Group are not significantly changed by the amendments.

•	 PAS	1,	Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
 The revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner 

changes in equity presented in a reconciliation of each component of equity. In addition, the standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items 
of recognized income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements.

 The Group has elected to present two linked statements in the consolidated financial statements.

•		 Improvements	to	PFRSs	2009,	with	respect	to	the	amendment	to	the	appendix	to	PAS	18,	Revenue
 The Amendment adds guidance (which accompanies the standard) to determine whether an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent. The features to consider are whether 

the entity:

 − Has primary responsibility for providing the goods or service
 − Has inventory risk
 − Has discretion in establishing prices
 − Bears the credit risk

 The Group has assessed its revenue arrangements against these criteria and concluded that it is acting as principal in all arrangements. The revenue recognition policy has 
been updated accordingly.

•	 PAS	23, Borrowing Costs (Revised)
•		Amendments	to	PFRS	1	and	PAS	27,	Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
•		Amendment	to	PFRS	2, Vesting Condition and Cancellations
•		PAS	32,	Financial Instruments: Presentation and Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on 

Liquidation
•		Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	13,	Customer Loyalty Programmes
•		Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	16,	Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
•		Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	18,	Transfers of Assets from Customers
•		Improvements	to	PFRSs	(2008)
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 New Accounting Standards, Interpretations, and Amendments to Existing Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective
 The Group will adopt the following standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the 

adoption of these new and amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

•	 PFRS	3,	Business Combinations (Revised) and PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended)
 The revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009. PFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the accounting for 

business combinations occurring after this date. Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interest, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and 
subsequent measurement of a contingent consideration and business combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact the amount of goodwill recognized, 
the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs and future reported results. PAS 27 (Amended) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a 
subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to 
goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss 
of control of a subsidiary. The changes by PFRS 3 (Revised) and PAS 27 (Amended) will affect future acquisitions or loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions 
with non-controlling interests. PFRS 3 (Revised) will be applied prospectively while PAS 27 (Amended) will be applied retrospectively with a few exceptions. 

•	 Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	9	and	PAS	39	Amendments	-	Embedded Derivatives
 This amendment to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives, requires an entity to assess whether an embedded derivative must be separated 

from a host contract when the entity reclassifies a hybrid financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category. This assessment is to be made based on circumstances 
that existed on the later of the date the entity first became a party to the contract and the date of any contract amendments that significantly change the cash flows of the contract. 
PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, now states that if an embedded derivative cannot be reliably measured, the entire hybrid instrument must remain 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

•		 Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	15,	Agreement for Construction of Real Estate
 This interpretation, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012, covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the 

construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors.  The Interpretation requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion, except 
when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of services in which case revenue is 
recognized based on stage of completion. Contracts involving provision of services with the construction materials and where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred 
to the buyer on a continuous basis will also be accounted for based on stage of completion. The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of this interpretation on the 
consolidated financial statements.

•	 Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	17,	Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners
 This interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009 with early application permitted. It provides guidance on how to account for non-cash 

distributions to owners. The Interpretation clarifies when to recognize a liability, how to measure it and the associated assets, and when to derecognize the asset and liability. 
The Group does not expect the Interpretation to have an impact on the consolidated financial statements as the Group has not made non-cash distributions to shareholders in 
the past.

•		 PAS	39	Amendment	- Eligible Hedged Items
 The amendment to PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009, clarifies that an entity is 

permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item. This also covers the designation of inflation as a 
hedged risk or portion in particular situations. The Group has concluded that the Amendment will have no impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the 
Group, as the Group has not entered into any such hedges.

•		 PFRS	2	Amendments	-	Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions
 The amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payments, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010, clarify the scope and the accounting for group cash-

settled share-based payment transactions. The Group has concluded that the Amendment will have no impact on the consolidated financial position or performance of the Group 
as the Group has not entered into any such share-based payment transactions.

 Improvements to PFRSs 2009
 The omnibus amendments to PFRSs issued in 2009 were issued primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The amendments are effective for annual 

periods financial years January 1, 2010 except otherwise stated. The Group will adopt these amendments when they become effective but anticipate that these changes will have 
no material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

•		 PFRS	2,	Share-based Payment: clarifies that the contribution of a business on formation of a joint venture and combinations under common control are not within the scope of PFRS 
2 even though they are out of scope of PFRS 3 (Revised). The Amendment is effective for financial years on or after July 1, 2009.

•	 PFRS	5,	Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: clarifies that the disclosures required in respect of non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held 
for sale or discontinued operations are only those set out in PFRS 5. The disclosure requirements of other PFRSs only apply if specifically required for such non-current assets or 
discontinued operations.

•		 PFRS	8,	Operating Segment Information: clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used 
by the chief operating decision maker.

•		 PAS	1,	Presentation of Financial Statements: clarifies that the terms of a liability that could result, at anytime, in its settlement by the issuance of equity instruments at the option of 
the counterparty do not affect its classification.

•		 PAS	7,	Statement of Cash Flows: explicitly states that only expenditure that results in a recognized asset can be classified as a cash flow from investing activities.

•		 PAS	17,	Leases: removes the specific guidance on classifying land as a lease. Prior to the amendment, leases of land were classified as operating leases. The amendment now 
requires that leases of land are classified as either ‘finance’ or ‘operating’ in accordance with the general principles of PAS 17. The Amendments will be applied retrospectively. 
The Group will assess the impact of this amendment in all its existing leases.

•		 PAS	36,	Impairment of Assets: clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business combination, is the operating segment as defined in PFRS 8 
before aggregation for reporting purposes.

•		 PAS	38,	Intangible Assets: clarifies that if an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is identifiable only with another intangible asset, the acquirer may recognize the 
group of intangible assets as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives. Also clarifies that the valuation techniques presented for determining the fair 
value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination that are not traded in active markets are only examples and are not restrictive on the methods that can be used.
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•	 PAS	39,	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: clarifies the following: 
 (a) that a prepayment option is considered closely related to the host contract when the exercise price of a prepayment option reimburses the lender up to the 

approximate present value of lost interest for the remaining term of the host contract; (b) that the scope exemption for contracts between an acquirer and a vendor in a 
business combination to buy or sell an acquiree at a future date applies only to binding forward contracts, and not derivative contracts where further actions by either 
party are still to be taken; (c) that gains or losses on cash flow hedges of a forecast transaction that subsequently results in the recognition of a financial instrument or 
on cash flow hedges of recognized financial instruments should be reclassified in the period that the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss.

•		 Philippine	 Interpretation	 IFRIC	 9,	Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives: clarifies that it does not apply to possible reassessment at the date of acquisition, to 
embedded derivatives in contracts acquired in a business combination between entities or businesses under common control or the formation of joint venture.

•		 Philippine	Interpretation	IFRIC	16,	Hedge	of	a	Net	Investment	in	a	Foreign	Operation:	states	that,	in	a	hedge	of	a	net	investment	in	a	foreign	operation,	qualifying	
hedging instruments may be held by any entity or entities within the group, including the foreign operation itself, as long as the designation, documentation and 
effectiveness requirements of PAS 39 that relate to a net investment hedge are satisfied.

Basis of Consolidation and Investments in Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent Company and the following companies that it controls:

    Effective Percentage
  Place of Incorporation  of Ownership 
   2009 2008 2007
 EEI (BVI) Limited (EEI BVI) and Subsidiaries British Virgin Islands 100 100 100
     Clear Jewel Investments, Ltd. (CJIL) British Virgin Islands   
     EEI Nouvelle-Caledonie SARL New Caledonia   
     Nimaridge Investments, Limited and Subsidiary British Virgin Islands   
 EEI (PNG) Ltd. Papua New Guinea   
 EEI Construction and Marine, Inc. (EEI Marine) Philippines 100 100 100
 EEI Corporation (Guam), Inc. United States of America 100 – –
 EEI Power Corporation (EEI Power) Philippines 100 100 100
 EEI Realty Corporation (EEI Realty) Philippines 100 100 100
 EEI Subic Corporation Philippines 100 – –
 Equipment Engineers, Inc. Philippines 100 100 100
 Gulf Asia International Corporation (GAIC) Philippines 100 100 100
       GAIC Professional Services, Inc. (GAPSI) Philippines
       GAIC Manpower Services, Inc. (GAMSI) Philippines 
 Bagumbayan Equipment & Industrial Products, Inc. Philippines 100 100 100
 Philmark, Inc. Philippines 100 100 100
 Philrock Construction and Services, Inc. Philippines 100 100 100

EEI Subic Corporation, EEI (PNG), Ltd., and EEI Corporation (Guam), Inc. were incorporated on September 13, 2009, October 26, 2009 and August 25, 2009, 
respectively.

Control is normally evidenced when the Parent Company owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights of an investee’s capital stock.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such 
control ceases.

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.  Intercompany balances and 
transactions are eliminated in the consolidation.

Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original 

maturities of three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
 Date of Recognition
 The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized 
on the settlement date. The Group follows the settlement date accounting where an asset to be received and liability to be paid are recognized on the settlement date and 
derecognition of an asset that is sold and the recognition of a receivable from the buyer are recognized on the settlement date.

 Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
 All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Except for securities at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), the initial measurement of 

financial assets includes transaction costs. The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, AFS 
securities, and loans and receivables. The Group classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on 
the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.

 The Group has no financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL and HTM investments as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

 Determination of Fair Value
 The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market price or dealer price quotations (bid price for long 

positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. When current bid and asking prices are not available, the price of the most recent 
transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of the 
transaction. 
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 For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include discounted 
cash flow methodologies, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, and other relevant valuation models.

 Derivatives recorded at FVPL
 The Parent Company entered into derivative transactions. Derivative instruments (including embedded derivatives) are carried and recorded in the consolidated statement of 

financial position at fair value. 

 Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year that do not qualify for hedge accounting were taken directly to the “Foreign exchange 
loss - net” account in the consolidated statements of income.  

 Embedded derivatives that are bifurcated from the host financial and non-financial contracts are also accounted for at FVPL.

 An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the following conditions are met: a) the economic characteristics and 
risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristic of the host contract; b) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded 
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at fair value through profit or loss. The Parent Company 
assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from the host contracts when the Parent Company first becomes a party to the contract. Reassessment of 
embedded derivatives is only done when there are changes in the contract that significantly modifies the contractual cash flows that would otherwise be required.

 Day 1 Profit
 Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation 

technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 profit) in the 
consolidated statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference 
between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is 
derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the Day 1 profit amount.

 Loans and Receivables
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortized cost 

using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and include 
fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Long-term receivables are valued using the discounted cash flow methodology. Gains and losses 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

 The Group’s loans and receivables principally include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables (including retention receivables), advances to officers and employees, other 
receivables, due from related parties, miscellaneous deposits, receivables from retirement fund of Parent Company and long term receivables (see Notes 5, 13 and 26).

 AFS Securities 
 AFS securities are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not classified in any of the three other categories. After initial recognition, AFS 

securities are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognized as a separate component of the equity until the investment is derecognized or until the investment is 
determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the equity is included in the consolidated statement of income. AFS securities which 
are expected to be sold within twelve months from the reporting date are classified under current assets.  Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

 The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
reporting date. For investments where there is no active market, except for investments in unquoted equity securities, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such 
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis and option pricing models. In the absence of a reliable basis of determining fair value, investments in unquoted equity securities are carried at cost less allowance 
for impairment losses, if any.

 The Group’s AFS securities represent investments in quoted and unquoted golf, club and equity shares (see Note 10).

 Other Financial Liabilities
 Other financial liabilities are non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These liabilities are carried at cost 

or amortized cost in the consolidated statement of financial position. Amortization is determined using effective interest rate method.

 This accounting policy relates to the consolidated statement of financial position caption “Bank loans”, “Accounts payable and accrued expenses”, “Due to related parties” 
and “Long-term debt”.

 Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

 Impairment of Financial Assets
 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of 

financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there 
is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

 Assets Carried at Amortized Cost
 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate (that is, the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Loans and receivables, together with the 
associated allowance accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income, to the extent that the carrying value of the 
asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.
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 Assets Carried at Cost
 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset.

 AFS Securities
 For AFS securities, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

 In the case of equity investments classified as AFS securities, this would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost. Where there 
is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income - is removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment 
losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income. Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

 Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
 Financial Assets
 A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when: (a) the rights to receive cash flows from 

the asset have expired; (b) the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third 
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or (c) the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (i) has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (ii) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

 Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

 Financial Liabilities
 A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by 

another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income.

 Offsetting
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right 

to set off the recognized amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and the liability simultaneously.

 Inventories
 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost includes purchase price and other costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Cost of inventories 

is generally determined using the moving-average method, except for land inventory of EEI Realty, which is accounted for using the specific identification method.  NRV is the 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion of inventories and the estimated costs necessary to sell. 

 Other Current Assets
 Other current assets pertain to other resources controlled by the Group as a result of past events and from which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the Group 

within the reporting period.

 Land and Building Classified as Held for Sale
 Land and building classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. These are classified as held for sale if their carrying 

amounts will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset 
or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as 
a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

 Property and equipment once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortized but subject to impairment.

 Investments in Associate and Joint Ventures
 The Group has 49% investment in Al-Rushaid Construction Company Limited (ARCC) which is incorporated and based in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and is currently 

accounted for as an associate. It also has 50% investment in ECW Joint Venture, Inc. (ECW) and 40% investment in SAEI-EEI Construction Corporation (SECC) currently 
accounted for as incorporated joint ventures. All of the investments are still outstanding as of December 31, 2009 except for SECC which was dissolved in 2008.

  The reporting dates and the accounting policies of the associate and joint ventures conform with those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

 Investments in associate and joint ventures which are jointly controlled entities, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the cost of 
investment is increased or decreased by the equity in the associate and joint venture’s net earnings or losses since the date of acquisition and reduced by dividends received.  
Unrealized intercompany profits are eliminated up to the extent of the proportionate share thereof.

 Property, Plant and Equipment
 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and impairment loss, if any.

 The initial cost of property, plant and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 
working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after the assets have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, are normally charged 
to operation in the year in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future 
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures 
are capitalized as an additional cost of property, plant and equipment. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and their related accumulated depreciation 
and amortization and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged current operations.
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 Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
  Number of years
 Machinery, tools and construction equipment  5 - 10
 Buildings and improvements 20
 Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 2 - 10
 Power plant 15
 Transportation and service equipment 4

 Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed over the estimated useful life of the improvement or term of the lease, whichever is shorter.

 Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction and is stated at cost. This includes cost of construction, plant and equipment and other 
direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are ready for their intended use.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement 
of income in the year the asset is derecognized.

 The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation and amortization are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end.

 Investment Properties
 Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of 

replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

 Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the 
year of retirement or disposal.

 Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the end of owner occupation, commencement of an operating lease 
to another party or completion of construction or development. Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by 
commencement of development with a view to sale.

 Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 15 to 20 years.

 Impairment of Non-financial Assets
 For property, plant and equipment, investments in associate and joint venture and investment properties, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 

indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, and is determined for 
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of 
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

 After such reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

 Revenue and Cost Recognition
 Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The Group assesses its 

revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. In arrangements where the Group is acting as principal to its customers, 
revenue is recognized on a gross basis. However, if the Group is acting as an agent to its customers, only the amount of net commission retained is recognized as revenue.  
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

 Construction Contracts
 Revenue from construction contracts are recognized using the percentage of completion method of accounting. Under this method, revenues are generally measured on the 

basis of estimated completion of the physical proportion of the contract work. Revenue from labor supply contracts with project management and supervision are recognized 
on the basis of man-hours spent.

 Contract costs include direct materials, labor costs and indirect costs related to contract performance. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recognized 
immediately when it is probable that the total contract costs will exceed the total contract revenues. The amount of such loss is determined irrespective of: (a) whether or not work 
has commenced on the contract; (b) the stage of completion of contract work; or (c) the amount of profits expected to arise on other contracts. Changes in contract performance, 
contract conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from penalty provisions and final contract settlements which may result in revisions to estimated costs and 
gross margins, are recognized in the year in which the changes are determined.

 The asset “Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts” represents total contract costs incurred and estimated earnings recognized in excess 
of amounts billed. The liability “Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts” represents billings in excess of total contract costs incurred 
and estimated earnings recognized. Contract retentions are included in the trade receivable account, which is shown as part of the receivables account in the consolidated 
statements of financial position.

 Service Income
 Service income are recognized as the related services are rendered.
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 Merchandise Sales
 Revenue from merchandise sales is normally recognized when the buyer accepts delivery and when installation and inspection are complete. However, revenue is recognized 

immediately upon the buyer’s acceptance of delivery when the installation process is simple in nature.

 Real Estate Sales
 Income on sale of raw parcels of land with no future obligation to develop the property is recognized using the full accrual method.

 Sale of developed lots and residential units is accounted for using the full accrual method of accounting. Under this method, revenue from sale of real estate should be 
recognized when (a) the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property; (b) the Group retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the property sold; (c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; (d) it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and (e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably.

 If any of the criteria under the full accrual method is not met, the deposit method is applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met. Pending recognition of sale, 
cash received from buyers is recognized as deposit from customers presented under the “Customers’ deposits” account in the liabilities section of the consolidated statements 
of financial position.

 Interest Income
 Revenue is recognized as interest accrues (using the effective interest rate method that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 

of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset).

 Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions and Translation
 The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Parent’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own 

functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency closing rate as at the reporting date. All differences are taken to consolidated statement of income. Nonmonetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

 The functional currency of the Group’s subsidiary, EEI-BVI and Subsidiaries, and its associate, ARCC, are United States Dollar and Saudi Arabia Riyal, respectively. As at 
reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of the Parent Company (the Philippine Peso) at the closing rate as at 
the reporting date, and the consolidated statement of income accounts are translated at monthly weighted average exchange rate. The movement in the closing rate for Saudi 
Arabia Riyal against Philippine Peso is accounted for in the movement of equity for ARCC. The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate 
component of equity.

 Upon disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized 
in the consolidated statement of income.

 Retirement Cost
 The Group’s retirement cost is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. Under this method, the current service cost is the present value of retirement 

benefits payable in the future with respect to services rendered in the current period. The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position with respect 
to defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less fair value of plan assets, if any, together with any adjustments 
for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and past service cost. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to income when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses at the end 
of the previous period exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains or losses are recognized over 
the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the retirement plan.

 The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. If the benefits are already vested 
immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past service cost is recognized immediately.

 The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and actuarial gains and losses not recognized reduced by past service cost 
not yet recognized and the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. If such aggregate is negative, the asset is measured at the lower of 
such aggregate and the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses and past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form 
of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan.

 Income Tax
 Current Income Tax
 Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The 

tax rates and the tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted as at reporting date.

 Deferred Income Tax
 Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefit 
of unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused tax credits from excess MCIT and NOLCO 
can be utilized.

 Deferred tax liabilities are not provided on non-taxable temporary differences associated with investments in domestic subsidiaries, associates, and interests in joint ventures. 
With respect to investments in foreign subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint ventures, deferred tax liabilities are recognized except where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be used.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting date.

 Deferred income tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying 
transactions either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate 
to the same entity and the same taxation authority.

 Leases
 The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date whether the fulfillment of the arrangement 

is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

 A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

(a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
(b)  a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term;
(c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or
(d) there is substantial change to the asset.

 Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c), 
or (d) and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

 Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at inception of the lease at the fair 
value of the lease property, or if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of 
the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are reflected in consolidated statement of income.

 Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term.

 Operating leases of the Group represent those under which substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets remain with the lessor.  Operating lease payments 
are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 Provisions
 Provisions are recognized when: (a) the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) where, as a result of a past event; (b) it is probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and; (c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 Contingencies
 Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow 

of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to consolidated 
financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

 Stock Option Plan
 No benefit expense is recognized relative to the shares issued under the stock options plan. When the shares related to the stock options plan are subscribed, these are treated 

as capital stock issuances. The stock option plan is exempt from PFRS 2.

 Events after the Reporting Period
  Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the notes to consolidated financial 

statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed when material.

 Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share
 Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income applicable to common shares by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during 

the year, after retroactive adjustments for any subsequent stock dividends. Diluted earnings per share, if applicable, is computed by dividing net income applicable to common 
shares by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year after giving effect to assumed exercise of stock options and retroactive effect 
of stock dividends declared.

 Segment Reporting
 The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business 

unit that offers different products and serves different markets.  Financial information on business segments is presented in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

 Equity
 The Group records common stocks at par value and additional paid-in capital in excess of the total contributions received over the aggregate par values of the equity shares. 

Incremental costs incurred directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from proceeds, net of tax. When any member of the Group 
purchases the Group’s capital stock (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any attributable incremental costs, is deducted from equity attributable to the Group’s 
equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related tax effects is included in equity.

 Retained earnings represent accumulated earnings of the Group less dividends declared.

 Expenses
 “Selling and administrative expenses” are expenses that arise in the course of the ordinary operations of the Group.  These usually take the form of an outflow or depletion 

of assets such as cash and cash equivalents, inventories, supplies, property, plant and equipment and investment properties.  Expenses are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income as incurred.
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3.  Significant Accounting judgments and Estimates 

 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Group to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. Future events may occur which can cause the assumptions 
used in arriving at those estimates to change. The effects of any changes in estimates will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably 
determinable.  Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 The following presents a summary of these significant accounting judgments and estimates:

 Judgments
 Fair Value of AFS Securities
 The Group treats AFS securities as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of 

impairment exists. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. The Group treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% or more and ‘prolonged’ as 
greater than 6 months for quoted securities. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including the future cash flows and the discount factors of these securities. The fair 
value of the quoted AFS securities as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P17.9 million, P19.1 million and P26.2 million, respectively (see Note 10).

 Operating Lease - Group as Lessee
 The Group is leasing its various transportation equipment from Malayan Rental Corporation (MRC), a related party. The Group assessed that it does not have the risk and 

rewards of ownership of the leased asset primarily because the lease term is not for the major part of the economic life of the asset and at the inception of the lease, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments does not amount to at least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset. The future minimum rental payables under non-cancellable 
operating lease as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P19.4 million, P28.2 million and P14.7 million, respectively (see Note 33).

 Finance Lease - Group as Lessee
 The Group has entered into lease agreements with First Malayan Leasing and Finance Corporation (FMLFC), a related party, for the lease of its various construction machineries 

and equipment. The Group has determined that it acquires all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset and therefore is accounted for as a finance 
lease. The future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P63.4 million, P125.5 million and P112.8 million, respectively. The present 
value of minimum lease payments under finance lease as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P31.2 million, P80.6 million and P104.6 million, respectively 
(see Note 33).

 Estimates
 Revenue and Cost Recognition
 The Group’s revenue recognition policies require management to make use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of revenues and costs. The 

Group’s construction revenue is recognized based on the percentage of completion measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion of a physical proportion of 
the contract work. The revenue and related cost recognized for 2009, 2008 and 2007 are based on management’s best estimate and have met the requirements set forth in 
PAS 11, Construction Contracts.

 As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts amounted to P1.4 billion, P1.5 billion and P1.2 
billion, respectively, and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts amounted to P1.5 billion, P1.2 billion and P1.1 billion, respectively (see 
Note 6).

 Estimating Realizability of Claims and Change Orders
 The Group maintains as claims and change order assets when it is probable that these assets will be realized. The amount timing of recorded expenses would differ if the Group 

made different estimates.

 Estimating Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 The Group maintains allowances for doubtful accounts at a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this allowance is evaluated 

by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts. These factors include, but are not limited to, the length of the Group’s relationship with the 
customer, the customer’s payment behavior and other known market factors. The Group reviews the age and status of receivables and identifies accounts that are to be provided 
with allowances on a continuous basis.

 The amount of timing and recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group made different judgments or utilized different estimates. An increase in the allowance for 
doubtful accounts would increase recorded operating expenses and decrease current assets.

 The outstanding balance of receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P2.3 billion, P2.2 billion, and P1.7 
billion, respectively (see Note 5).

 Estimating NRV of Inventories
 The Group maintains allowance for inventory losses at a level considered adequate to reflect the excess of cost of inventories over their NRV. NRV of inventories are assessed 

regularly based on the prevailing selling prices of inventories less the estimated cost necessary to sell. Increase in the NRV will increase the carrying amount of inventories but 
only up to the extent of their original acquisition costs.

 The carrying values of inventories as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P447.6 million, P484.9 million and P565.9 million respectively (see Note 7).

 Estimating Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties
 The Group estimated the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and investment properties based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for 

use. The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and investment properties based on factors that include asset utilization, internal 
technical evaluation, technological changes, environmental and anticipated use of the assets tempered by related industry benchmark information. It is possible that future results 
of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned. A reduction in estimated useful lives of property, 
plant and equipment and investment properties would increase recorded depreciation and amortization expense and decrease noncurrent assets.

 As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the net book value of depreciable property, plant and equipment amounted to P738.2 million, P581.8 million and P371.6 million, 
respectively (see Note 11).

 As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the net book value of depreciable investment properties amounted to P80.5 million, P13.1 million and P10.8 million, respectively 
(see Note 12).
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 Non-financial Asset Impairment
 The Group assesses impairment on non-financial assets (i.e., property, plant and equipment, investments in associate and joint venture and investment properties) whenever 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a non-financial asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the Group considers important which 
could trigger an impairment review include the following:

	 •	Significant	underperformance	relative	to	expected	historical	or	projected	future	operating	results;
	 •	Significant	changes	in	the	manner	of	use	of	the	acquired	assets	or	the	strategy	for	overall	business;	and
	 •	Significant	negative	industry	or	economic	trends.

 The Group did not recognize any impairment loss for these assets for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

 The carrying values of the Group’s non-financial assets follow:

  2009 2008 2007
 Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) P738,195,677 P581,835,985 P371,607,714
 Investments in associate and joint venture (Note 9) 729,762,175 623,741,437 462,246,426
 Investment properties (Note 12) 300,593,619 226,814,531 220,791,955

 Retirement Benefits
 The determination of the obligation and cost of retirement benefits are dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. 

Those assumptions include, among others, discount rates, expected returns on plan assets and salary increase rates. In accordance with PAS 19, actual results that differ 
from the Group’s assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in such 
future periods. While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the 
assumptions may materially affect the pension and other retirement obligations.

 Retirement asset (included in other noncurrent assets) amounted to P9.0 million, P10.9 million and P21.8 million as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see 
Notes 13 and 27). Retirement liability (included in accounts payable and accrued expenses) amounted to P14.0 million, P11.3 million and P13.0 million as of December 31, 
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Notes 15 and 27).

 Deferred Tax Assets
 The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred taxes of each entity in the Group at each reporting date and reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.

 Deferred tax assets recognized amounted to P117.8 million, P106.2 million and P93.3 million as of December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively (see Note 25).

 Deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries amounting to P143.0 million, P176.2 million and P176.5 million as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, were 
not recognized because management assessed that there is no available taxable profit to which these can be applied (see Note 25).

 Contingencies
 The Group is currently involved in various proceedings. The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation with outside 

counsel handling the Group’s defense in these matters and based upon an analysis of potential results. The Group currently does not believe that these proceedings will have 
material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position. It is possible, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the 
effectiveness of the strategies relating to these proceedings (see Note 33).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 This account consists of:

 2009 2008 2007
Cash on hand P1,264,439 P3,470,456 P3,083,680
Cash in banks (Note 26) 695,021,056 586,943,519 448,389,076
Short-term investments (Note 26) 189,934,459 588,939,693 207,190,179
 P886,219,954 P1,179,353,668 P658,662,935

Cash in banks earns interest at the respective bank deposit rates. Short-term investments are made for varying periods up to three months depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term investment rates. Interest income from cash in bank and short-term investments amounted to P34.5 
million, P27.4 million and P36.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 23).

5. Receivables - Net 

 This account consists of:

  2009 2008 2007
 Trade receivables (including retention receivable
  on construction contracts of P492.6 million
     in 2009, P764.7 million in 2008 and P578.7
  million in 2007) P2,137,542,663 P1,582,734,382 P1,042,789,227
 Advances to suppliers and subcontractors 108,953,868 174,776,263 480,918,844
 Tax refund from tax authorities 93,292,447 231,891,050 259,653,564
 Consultancy fee 88,710,721 119,482,007 62,281,345
 Advances to officers and employees 19,490,083 24,740,320 29,672,570
 Reimbursable taxes 18,000,906 142,638,598 54,563,557
 Other receivables 82,798,128 132,031,872 37,635,005
  2,548,788,816 2,408,294,492 1,967,514,112
 Less allowance for doubtful accounts 223,098,113 226,045,591 263,685,460
  P2,325,690,703 P2,182,248,901 P1,703,828,652



472 0 0 9  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

 Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts follow:

                               2009   
   Advances to Tax refund 
   Trade suppliers and from tax Other
    receivables subcontractors authorities receivables Total
 Balance at beginning of year P156,902,959 P34,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P226,045,591
 Provisions during the year (Note 21) 18,050,689 4,000,000 – – 22,050,689
 Write-offs (17,240,950) – – – (17,240,950)
 Recoveries (Note 21) (7,757,217) – – – (7,757,217)
 Balance at end of year P149,955,481 P38,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P223,098,113
 Individually impaired P149,955,481 P38,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P223,098,113
 Collectively impaired – – – – –
 Total P149,955,481 P38,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P223,098,113
 Gross amount of receivables 
     individually determined to
     be impaired, before
     deducting any assessed
     impairment allowance P149,955,481 P38,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P223,098,113

                              2008   
  Advances to Tax refund
  Trade suppliers and from tax Other
  receivables subcontractors authorities receivables Total
Balance at beginning of year P186,216,410 P34,163,194 P10,000,000 P33,305,856 P263,685,460
Provisions during the year (Note 21) 10,079,353 – – 763,393 10,842,746
Write-offs (9,509,349) – – (66,080) (9,575,429)
Recoveries (Note 21) (29,883,455) – (9,023,731) – (38,907,186)
Balance at end of year P156,902,959 P34,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P226,045,591
Individually impaired P156,902,959 P34,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P226,045,591
Collectively impaired – – – – –
Total P156,902,959 P34,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P226,045,591
Gross amount of receivables
    individually determined to
    be impaired, before
    deducting any assessed
    impairment allowance P156,902,959 P34,163,194 P976,269 P34,003,169 P226,045,591

                              2007   
  Advances to Tax refund
  Trade suppliers and from tax Other
  receivables subcontractors authorities receivables Total
Balance at beginning of year P201,822,833 P34,163,194 P10,000,000 P33,305,856 P279,291,883
Provisions during the year (Note 21) 6,493,203 – – – 6,493,203
Write-offs (20,171,103) – – – (20,171,103)
Recoveries (Note 21) (1,928,523) – – – (1,928,523)
Balance at end of year P186,216,410 P34,163,194 P10,000,000 P33,305,856 P263,685,460
Individually impaired P182,547,033 P34,163,194 P10,000,000 P33,305,856 P260,016,083
Collectively impaired 3,669,377 – – – 3,669,377
Total P186,216,410 P34,163,194 P10,000,000 P33,305,856 P263,685,460
Gross amount of receivables
    individually determined
    to be impaired, before
    deducting any assessed
    impairment allowance P 182,547,033 P 34,163,194 P 10,000,000 P 33,305,856 P 260,016,083

 Impairment Assessment 
 The main considerations for impairment assessment include whether any payments are overdue or if there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of the counterparties. The 

Group assesses impairment into two areas: individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed allowances.

 The Group determines allowance for each significant receivable on an individual basis. Among the items that the Group considers in assessing impairment is the inability to 
collect from the counterparty based on the contractual terms of the receivables.  Receivables included in the specific assessment are the accounts that have been endorsed to 
the legal department, non-moving account receivables and accounts of defaulted agents. 

 For collective assessment, allowances are assessed for receivables that are not individually significant and for individually significant receivables where there is not yet objective 
evidence of individual impairment. Impairment losses are estimated by taking into consideration the age of the receivables, past collection experience and other factors that 
may affect collectibility. 

 The total impairment loss on the receivables recognized in consolidated statements of income amounted to P22.1 million, P10.8 million and P6.5 million as of December 31, 
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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6. Costs, Estimated Earnings and Billings on Uncompleted Contracts 

 The details of the costs, estimated earnings and billings on uncompleted contracts follow:

 2009 2008 2007
Total costs incurred P20,105,436,452 P18,971,922,633 P16,630,632,057
Add estimated earnings 2,142,634,351 1,321,354,853 947,616,710
 22,248,070,803 20,293,277,486 17,578,248,767
Less total billings (including unliquidated advances 
    from contract owners of P834.3 million, 
    P536.1 million and P991.5 million in 2009, 
    2008 and 2007, respectively)  (22,284,420,598) (20,018,180,180) (17,495,753,683)
 (P 36,349,795) P 275,097,306 P 82,495,084

 The foregoing balances are reflected in the consolidated statements of financial position under the following accounts:

 2009 2008 2007
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
    on uncompleted contracts P1,414,538,588 P1,462,204,512 P1,185,635,890
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings
    on uncompleted contracts (1,450,888,383) (1,187,107,206) (1,103,140,806)
 (P36,349,795) P275,097,306 P82,495,084

7. Inventories 

 This account consists of:

 2009 2008 2007
At cost:   
    Land and land development (Note 16) P235,696,369 P235,408,585 P246,317,552
    Subdivision lots and contracted units for sale 146,828,806 152,756,721 191,110,228
    Raw lands 46,846,228 46,846,228 46,973,798
 429,371,403 435,011,534 484,401,578
At NRV:   
    Merchandise 16,334,808 35,862,205 47,384,291
    Spare parts and supplies 1,042,742 3,595,571 12,184,458
    Construction materials 890,382 10,381,724 21,879,749
 18,267,932 49,839,500 81,448,498

    P447,639,335 P 484,851,034 P 565,850,076

The related costs of inventories recorded at NRV follow:

 2009 2008 2007
Merchandise P68,700,479 P87,004,814 P100,916,327
Spare parts and supplies 9,319,258 28,396,566 35,492,386
Construction materials 2,798,414 13,549,662 27,689,615
 P80,818,151 P128,951,042 P164,098,328

The actual inventories written off in 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P17.9 million, P23.9 million and P14.4 million, respectively.

 Land included in inventories relates to real estate development projects being undertaken by EEI Realty, either on its own or with other parties, as follows:

a. On April 24, 1998, EEI Realty entered into a joint venture (JV) agreement with Robinson’s Homes, Inc. (RHI) to contribute certain parcels of land to the JV for development 
by RHI into a residential subdivision. Under the JV agreement, the share of EEI Realty and RHI on the saleable lots shall be 40% and 60%, respectively.

 EEI Realty granted RHI the exclusive right to construct housing units on EEI Realty’s share of the saleable lots from the JV project and construction of the housing units shall 
be solely for RHI’s account. EEI Realty also granted RHI the exclusive marketing rights over its share of the saleable lots from the JV project. EEI Realty shall reimburse RHI 
for marketing and administration expense of 10% of the lot selling price deductible from EEI Realty’s share on every lot sold.

 On July 11, 2005, EEI Realty and RHI mutually agreed to reduce the JV area from 72.79 hectares to 13.98 hectares. The share of EEI Realty and RHI on the saleable lots 
shall be 25% and 75%, respectively, starting May 1, 2005. The JV area is still being managed by RHI, while the remaining area has been turned over to EEI Realty.

 In consideration of EEI Realty’s entering into the JV Agreement, RHI paid EEI Realty P50.0 million as noninterest-bearing cash advance. The cash advance shall be 
liquidated using the proceeds from sale of the lots allocated to EEI Realty. In 2000, the JV started selling developed lots, the proceeds of which were deducted from the 
cash advance. As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the outstanding balance of the cash advance, which is shown as part of accounts payable and accrued 
expenses account in the consolidated statements of financial position, amounted to P32.4 million, P31.1 million and P42.7 million, respectively (see Note 15).

b.  EEI Realty has an ongoing project in Suburbia East, Marikina. The master plan for the 98,009 square meters property project was completed and the development permit 
application for the subdivision plan was approved on September 14, 2000 by the city government of Marikina. On May 2, 2002, the Housing and Land Use Regulatory 
Board (HLURB) issued a Certificate of Registration and License to Sell to EEI Realty for the sale of saleable lots in Suburbia East Phase I. The Phase I development works 
have been completed. On May 30, 2003, HLURB issued a certificate of Registration and License to Sell for the sale of saleable lots in Phase II. Development works for 
Phase II is completed in July 2007. On November 29, 2008, HLURB issued a certificate of Registration and License to Sell for the sale of saleable lots in Phase III. Phase 
III development is still ongoing.
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c.  The amended Memorandum of Agreement dated April 19, 1999 between EEI Realty and Greenfield provides for the following:

•		 Sale	of	nine	parcels	of	land	with	a	total	area	of	133,550	square	meters	by	EEI	Realty	to	Greenfield.	Payment	terms	for	the	land	sold	include	turnover	of	certain	developed	
lots from the nine parcels of land.  In 2003, a total of 11 saleable lots from the unsold inventory of Greenfield’s developed lots valued at P48.2 million were transferred 
to EEI Realty as partial settlement.

•		 Contribution	by	EEI	Realty	of	parcels	of	land,	with	a	total	area	of	111,906	square	meters,	as	EEI	Realty’s	participating	interest	in	a	JV	project	with	Greenfield.	Under	
the terms of the JV agreement, EEI Realty’s net land owner’s interest shall be in the form of developed lots for the residential component and golf club shares for the golf 
course component, and shall be allocated at 30% for EEI Realty and 70% for Greenfield.

8. Other Current Assets 

 This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
  Prepaid taxes P117,342,682 P192,481,352 P252,792,748
  Input value-added tax (VAT) 99,587,738 101,622,193 119,741,636
  Miscellaneous deposits 40,452,341 46,079,064 40,843,932
  Prepaid expenses 16,756,723 13,188,985 32,983,239
  Supplies and others 9,591,561 3,461,894 10,351,544
   P283,731,045 P356,833,488 P456,713,099

 Prepaid taxes represent mainly of the Group’s creditable withholding taxes, tax credit certificates and VAT subsidy checks (VSC). VSC pertains to tax subsidy granted to the 
Parent Company in connection with the Subic-Clark-Tarlac Expressway Project.

9. Investments in Associate and joint Venture 

This account consists of:

  2009 2008 2007
 Acquisition cost:   
  Balance at beginning of year P28,222,815 P30,222,815 P56,743,219
  Disposal – (2,000,000) (26,520,404)
  Balance at end of year 28,222,815 28,222,815 30,222,815
 Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
  Balance at beginning of year 588,249,465 509,016,809 190,626,015
  Equity in net earnings for the year  530,362,860 631,166,417 356,223,179
  Dividends  (392,441,049) (551,933,761) (63,706,537)
  Disposal – – 25,874,152
  Balance at end of year 726,171,276 588,249,465 509,016,809
 Subtotal 754,394,091 616,472,280 539,239,624
 Equity in cumulative translation adjustment (24,631,916) 7,269,157 (76,993,198)
  P729,762,175 P623,741,437 P462,246,426

The change in equity in cumulative translation adjustment represents exchange differences arising from the translation of financial statements of the foreign operations, EEI 
BVI, whose functional currency is the United States Dollar.

The investments in associate and joint venture relate to the following associate and joint venture:
   Effective percentage of ownership 
  2009 2008 2007
 Joint venture - ECW Joint Venture, Inc. (ECW) 50 50 50
 Joint venture - SAEI-EEI Construction Corporation (SECC) – 40 40
 Associate - ARCC (operations in Saudi Arabia) 49 49 49

 ARCC is an associate and engaged in electro-mechanical work, industrial plants construction and related works.
 On March 10, 2008, SECC’s BOD approved the shortening of the term of SECC’s corporate existence from the date of incorporation until September 30, 2008, the effective 

date of dissolution. As a result, SECC changed its basis of accounting from the going concern basis to the liquidation basis. Accordingly, the carrying values of the remaining 
assets as of September 30, 2008 are presented at estimated realizable values and all liabilities are presented at estimated settlement amounts.

 Below are the summarized financial information relating to the Group’s interests in its associate and joint ventures:

   2009 
  ARCC ECW
 Current assets P3,042,148,194 P11,813,456
 Noncurrent assets 1,198,624,877 –
   Total assets P4,240,773,071 P11,813,456
 Current liabilities P3,027,900,612 P21,199
 Noncurrent liabilities 156,735,998 –
   Total liabilities P3,184,636,610 P21,199
 Revenue P7,733,222,073 P–
 Cost and expenses (7,202,859,213) –
 Net income P530,362,860 P–
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   2008 
  ARCC SECC ECW
 Current assets P2,011,588,947 P9,998,873 P11,813,456
 Noncurrent assets 916,805,525 – –
   Total assets P2,928,394,472 P9,998,873 P11,813,456
 Current liabilities P2,260,655,339 P204,060,638 P21,199
 Noncurrent liabilities 103,137,701 – –
   Total liabilities P2,363,793,040 P204,060,638 P21,199
 Revenue P4,988,809,518 P247,402 P–
 Cost and expenses (4,357,643,101) (6,647,347) –
 Net income (loss) P631,166,417 (P6,399,945) P–

   2007 
  ARCC SECC ECW
 Current assets P1,146,358,104 P15,991,783 P11,813,456
 Noncurrent assets 586,818,716 – –
   Total assets P1,733,176,820 P15,991,783 P11,813,456
 Current liabilities P1,248,310,829 P3,289,648 P21,199
 Noncurrent liabilities 32,273,390 200,363,955 –
   Total liabilities P1,280,584,219 P203,653,603 P21,199
 Revenue P2,382,154,361 P4,016,297 P–
 Cost and expenses (2,025,931,182) (1,321,169) –
 Net income P356,223,179 P2,695,128 P–

The Group’s share on the net income of ARCC is subject to 20% Saudi Arabian income taxes.

10. Available-for-sale Securities 

 This account consists of:

  2009 2008 2007
 Quoted shares P17,858,707 P19,109,564 P26,181,167
 Unquoted shares 85,086,836 86,460,006 72,958,005
   102,945,543 105,569,570 99,139,172
 Less current portion – 58,734,354 58,734,354
  P102,945,543 P46,835,216 P40,404,818

The current AFS securities in 2008 and 2007 relate to investments in shares of stock of Hermosa Ecozone Development Corporation which were expected to be sold within 
twelve months after the date of statement of financial position. These were reclassified to non-current in 2009 because there is no expectation of sale in 2010. The noncurrent 
AFS securities include quoted and unquoted golf, club and equity shares.

  Rollforward analysis of this account follows:

  2009 2008 2007
 Balance at beginning of year P105,569,570 P99,139,172 P90,347,341
 Acquisition (disposal) (2,481,180) 12,672,501 (2,412,500)
 Loss recognized in consolidated statement of income (3,306,175) – –
 Gain (loss) recognized in other comprehensive income 3,163,328 (6,242,103) 11,204,331
  P102,945,543 P105,569,570 P99,139,172

 As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the balance of unrealized gain on AFS securities amounted to P4.8 million, P5.0 million and P11.2 million, respectively.
 The loss recognized in the consolidated statement of income in 2009 is included in the “Selling and Administrative Expenses” account under “Others”. This loss came from the 

sale of quoted and unquoted golf and equity shares and redemption of quoted equity shares.

11. Property, Plant and Equipment - Net 
The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

      2009   
  Machinery,
  Tools and  Furniture,
  Construction Land, Fixtures,  Transportation
  Equipment Buildings and and Office  and Service Construction
  (Note 16) Improvements Equipment Power Plant Equipment In Progress Total 
 Cost       
 At beginning of year P991,994,870 P123,782,450 P148,620,255 P40,653,590 P111,283,352 P118,904,606 P1,535,239,123
 Additions 108,182,534 5,482,556 79,587,974 – 3,580,500 100,947,558 297,781,122
 Retirements/disposals (100,557,697) _ (1,876,830) (40,653,590) (9,576,827) – (152,664,944)
 Transfers 115,311,701 10,000,893 1,472,763 – 43,911,222 (170,696,579) –
 Reclassifications/adjustments 123,670,958 65,812,037 (771,391) – (35,361,503) – 153,350,101
 Reclassification of land and 
  building classified as held 
  for sale _ (39,353,102) _ _ _ _ (39,353,102)
 At end of year 1,238,602,366 165,724,834 227,032,771 _ 113,836,744 49,155,585 1,794,352,300



512 0 0 9  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

      2009   
  Machinery,
  Tools and  Furniture,
  Construction Land, Fixtures,  Transportation
  Equipment Buildings and and Office  and Service Construction
  (Note 16) Improvements Equipment Power Plant Equipment In Progress Total
 Accumulated depreciation
  and amortization       
 At beginning of year 682,666,421 44,831,140 100,652,641 40,275,590 84,977,346 – 953,403,138
 Depreciation and 
  amortization (Note 22) 72,623,519 5,696,325 24,325,859 _ 7,609,348 – 110,255,051
 Retirements/disposals (93,797,546) _ (1,876,830) (40,275,590) (9,576,827) – (145,526,793)
 Reclassifications/adjustments 150,173,479 (6,629,369) 2,042,913 – (2,071,148) – 143,515,875
 Reclassification of land and 
  building classified as held 
  for sale _ (5,490,648) _ _ _ _ (5,490,648)
 At end of year 811,665,873 38,407,448 125,144,583 _ 80,938,719 _ 1,056,156,623
 Net book value P426,936,493 P127,317,386 P101,888,188 P_ P32,898,025 P49,155,585 P738,195,677

      2008   
  Machinery,
  Tools and  Furniture,
  Construction Land, Fixtures,  Transportation
  Equipment Buildings and and Office  and Service Construction
  (Note 16) Improvements Equipment Power Plant Equipment In Progress Total
 Cost
 At beginning of year P827,083,821 P105,099,412 P106,153,113 P40,653,590 P96,800,117 P76,153,306 P1,251,943,359
 Additions 127,195,724 24,294,485 50,047,668 137,345 22,117,470 97,354,581 321,147,273
 Retirements/disposals (15,847,651) (2,240,068) (740,398) _ (8,674,540) _ (27,502,657)
 Transfers 53,562,976 _ _ _ 1,040,305 (54,603,281) _
 Reclassifications/adjustments _ (3,371,379) (6,840,128) (137,345) _ _ (10,348,852)
 At end of year 991,994,870 123,782,450 148,620,255 40,653,590 111,283,352 118,904,606 1,535,239,123
 Accumulated depreciation
  and amortization
 At beginning of year 660,409,588 44,385,418 76,858,751 33,449,812 65,232,076 _ 880,335,645
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) 34,467,166 5,794,824 30,862,071 6,902,191 20,991,632 _ 99,017,884
 Retirements/disposals (12,210,333) (2,240,068) (740,398) _ (1,246,362) _ (16,437,161)
 Reclassifications/adjustments _ (3,109,034) (6,327,783) (76,413) _ _ (9,513,230)
 At end of year 682,666,421 44,831,140 100,652,641 40,275,590 84,977,346 _ 953,403,138
 Net book value P309,328,449 P78,951,310 P47,967,614 P378,000 P26,306,006 P118,904,606 P581,835,985

      2007   
  Machinery,
  Tools and  Furniture,
  Construction Land, Fixtures,  Transportation
  Equipment Buildings and and Office  and Service Construction
  (Note 16) Improvements Equipment Power Plant Equipment In Progress Total
 Cost
 At beginning of year P721,660,320 P97,441,120 P84,835,203 P40,653,590 P62,576,993 P37,874,445 P1,045,041,671
 Additions 122,617,177 10,258,292 25,143,700 _ 39,133,239 38,278,861 235,431,269
 Retirements/disposals (17,193,676) (2,600,000) (3,825,790) _ (863,056) _ (24,482,522)
 Reclassifications/adjustments _ _ _ _ (4,047,059) _ (4,047,059)
 At end of year 827,083,821 105,099,412 106,153,113 40,653,590 96,800,117 76,153,306 1,251,943,359
 Accumulated depreciation
  and amortization
 At beginning of year 634,561,820 43,237,438 71,781,491 30,681,533 59,004,355 _ 839,266,637
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22) 39,250,013 1,602,981 6,054,727 2,768,279 10,375,491 _ 60,051,491
 Retirements/disposals (13,402,245) (455,001) (977,467) _ (863,056) _ (15,697,769)
 Reclassifications/adjustments _ _ _ _ (3,284,714) _ (3,284,714)
 At end of year 660,409,588 44,385,418 76,858,751 33,449,812 65,232,076 _ 880,335,645
 Net book value P166,674,233 P60,713,994 P29,294,362 P7,203,778 P31,568,041 P76,153,306 P371,607,714

 In 2009, EEI Marine decided to dispose its land and building in Pasig. Management believes that the disposal of these properties is expected to be completed in 2010. 
Correspondingly, the Group reclassified these land and building from property, plant and equipment to land and building classified as held for sale.

12. Investment Properties - Net 

 The rollforward analysis of this account follows:
   2009  
   Land held for
    Capital Condominium
    Appreciation Units and
   (Note 14) Parking Slots Total
 Cost   
 Balance at beginning of year  P213,689,064 P19,405,911 P233,094,975
 Additions  6,362,000 69,986,400 76,348,400
 Balance at end of year  220,051,064 89,392,311 309,443,375
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   2009  
   Land held for
    Capital Condominium
    Appreciation Units and
   (Note 14) Parking Slots Total
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization   
 Balance at beginning of year  – 6,280,444 6,280,444
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22)  – 2,569,312 2,569,312
 Balance at end of year  – 8,849,756 8,849,756
 Net book value  P220,051,064 P80,542,555 P300,593,619

   2008  
   Land held for
    Capital Condominium
    Appreciation Units and
   (Note 14) Parking Slots Total
 Cost   
 Balance at beginning of year  P209,995,386 P16,038,275 P226,033,661
 Additions  3,693,678 3,367,636 7,061,314
 Balance at end of year  213,689,064 19,405,911 233,094,975
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization   
 Balance at beginning of year  – 5,241,706 5,241,706
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22)  – 1,038,738 1,038,738
 Balance at end of year  – 6,280,444 6,280,444
 Net book value  P213,689,064 P13,125,467 P226,814,531

   2007  
   Land held for
    Capital Condominium
    Appreciation Units and
   (Note 14) Parking Slots Total
 Cost   
 Balance at beginning and end of year  P209,995,386 P16,038,275 P226,033,661
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization   
 Balance at beginning of year  – 4,234,285 4,234,285
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22)  – 1,007,421 1,007,421
 Balance at end of year  – 5,241,706 5,241,706
 Net book value  P209,995,386 P10,796,569 P220,791,955

 Investment properties represent various parcels of land, condominium units and parking slots held for capital appreciation and rental, respectively.

 In 2009, Equipment Engineers, Inc. received from a customer certain parcels of land as settlement of the latter’s trade receivables. The fair value of property received, 
determined by a professionally qualified independent appraiser, amounted to P6.4 million based on the fair valuation dated December 23, 2009 (see Note 36).

 Additions to condominium units and parking slots in 2009 amounting to P70.0 million represent properties received by the Parent Company from a customer as partial payment 
of the latter’s indebtedness to the Parent Company (see Note 36).

 As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the fair value of land held for capital appreciation amounted to P235.8 million, P226.9 million and P221.8 million, respectively, 
and condominium units and parking slots amounted to P106.3 million, P28.5 million and P24.6 million, respectively.

 The total rental income derived from the investment properties amounted to P0.5 million, P0.6 million, and P0.4 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 24). 
Total direct operating expenses incurred in relation to these investment properties amounted to P0.4 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007 (see Note 21).

 The fair value of land, condominium units and parking slots was arrived at using the Market Data Approach. In this approach, the value of the land and condominium units 
and parking slots are based on sales and listings of comparable property registered within the vicinity.

13. Other Noncurrent Assets and Other Noncurrent Liabilities 

Other noncurrent assets consist of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. (Notes 23 and 26)  P435,098,216 P441,388,250 P455,655,751
 Long-term receivables  13,664,695 17,438,441 20,741,799
 Net retirement asset (Note 27)  8,968,660 10,949,004 21,815,502
 Others  6,163,626 4,363,621 2,406,846
   P463,895,197 P474,139,316 P500,619,898

The receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. resulted from the sale of land by the Parent Company to EEI Retirement Fund, Inc.  The amount is to be paid by the Fund within 
seven years from 2006 with interest rate based on bank’s internal average lending rate (see Notes 23 and 26).

Long-term receivables consist of interest-bearing notes with a fifteen-year maturity with step-up interest rates (0% interest for the first five years; 10% on the next five years; and 
12% on the remaining life of the term).
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Other noncurrent liabilities consist of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Lease liability (Notes 26 and 33)  P31,238,849 P80,557,808 P104,612,915
 Other noncurrent liabilities  783,682 564,408 1,839,281
   P32,022,531 P81,122,216 P106,452,196

Lease liability arises from finance lease transactions with FMLFC, a related party, for the Group’s lease of its various construction machineries and equipment.

14. Bank Loans 

This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Secured bank loans  P1,011,617,298 P557,900,000 P348,375,000
 Unsecured bank loans  163,000,000 785,000,000 657,000,000
   P1,174,617,298 P1,342,900,000 P1,005,375,000

 Bank loans consist of Peso-denominated bank loans with annual interest rates ranging from 5.25% to 11.51%, 8.00% to 11.51%, and 8.00% to 11.25% in 2009, 2008 and 
2007, respectively.

 The secured bank loans are collateralized by the Parent Company’s investment properties of 39 hectares of land located at Lemery, Batangas amounting to P194.3 million 
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and P190.6 million as of December 31, 2007, and receivables amounting P251.0 million and P310.0 million as of December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively. The amount of P310.0 million as of December 31, 2007 includes retention receivable of P100.0 million. There are no pledged receivables as 
of December 31, 2009 (see Notes 5 and 12).  

15. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Accounts payable  P817,653,965 P748,868,357 P493,865,036
 Accrued expenses (Note 27)  190,273,097 535,955,446 419,728,164
 Deferred output taxes  180,722,656 150,408,529 145,582,484
 Retention payable  174,606,298 177,415,774 172,776,223
 Advances from joint venture partners (Note 7)  32,375,854 31,055,086 42,689,401
 Others  68,341,742 112,040,594 95,409,773
   P1,463,973,612 P1,755,743,786 P1,370,051,081

Accrued expenses consist of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Accrued salaries and wages  P71,619,109 P186,760,369 P153,891,264
 Withholding taxes and others  64,491,052 146,262,021 110,260,607
 SSS and other contributions  26,061,737 159,464,747 115,040,082
 Net retirement liability (Note 27)  13,998,301 11,330,164 13,006,200
 Accrued interest  10,841,122 15,302,743 12,685,078
 Others  3,261,776 16,835,402 14,844,933
   P190,273,097 P535,955,446 P419,728,164

16. Long-term Debt 

This account consists of:
   2009 2008 2007
 Parent Company   
 a.  Private placement fixed-rate corporate 
   promissory notes with effective 
   interest of 7.75% per annum.   P300,000,000 P– P–
 b. Peso-denominated bank loans, payable 
   in quarterly installments starting 
   January 2009 with interest based on 
   the bank’s internal average lending rate.  266,666,669 400,000,000 400,000,000
 EEI Realty   
 c. Peso-denominated bank loan payable
    semi-annually starting April 2007 with 
   interest based on the bank’s internal 
   average lending rate.  P55,345,570 P67,719,987 P96,038,581
   622,012,239 467,719,987 496,038,581
 Less current portion  143,333,334 143,333,334 10,000,000
   P478,678,905 P324,386,653 P486,038,581
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Parent Company
a. On September 15, 2009, the Parent Company sold P300.0 million private placement fixed-rate corporate promissory notes to various investors. RCBC Capital 

Corporation, a related party, acts as the selling agent. The loan matures within two years from the date of issue. The effective cost of the notes facility is 7.75% per 
annum. The proceeds of the loan were used for general corporate and project financing requirements.

b.  On October 18, 2006, the Parent Company signed a term loan agreement equivalent to P400.0 million with Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation (RCBC), a related 
party.  The loan was for a period of five years, inclusive of a two-year grace period on principal repayment and an interest to be based on the floating rate issued by 
RCBC.  The proceeds of the loan were used to pay short-term bank loans.

 The Peso-denominated loans are collateralized by certain parcels of land located at Calamba, Laguna, EEI Realty’s land and land development (included in inventories) 
located at Tanza, Cavite, and mortgage on certain property and equipment with a total aggregate net book value of P583.1 million in 2009 and P568.4 million in 2008 
and 2007 (see Notes 7 and 11).

EEI Realty
c.  On October 26, 2006, EEI Realty signed a term loan agreement equivalent to P125.2 million with RCBC. The loan was for a period of five years, with no grace period 

on principal repayment and an interest based on the bank’s internal average lending rate. The proceeds of the loan were used to pay the remaining balance of long-term 
debt in 2005 and a portion of short-term bank loans.

 The long-term debt is secured by a real estate mortgage on nine parcels of land included in land and land development with aggregate book value of P135.8 million, 
P147.2 million and P190.0 million as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 7).

 The loan agreements covering the loans of the Parent Company and EEI Realty provide certain restrictions with respect to, among others, usage of loan proceeds, disposal of 
properties given as collateral, guaranty of any debt, change in ownership or management set-up, dividend declaration, merger or consolidation and maintenance of certain 
financial ratios.

 The Group complied with all the loan covenants for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

17.  Stock Option Plan 

The Parent Company’s stock option plan, as amended (Amended Plan), had set aside 35 million common shares for stock options available to regular employees, officers and 
directors of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries.

Under the Amended Plan, the option or subscription price must be equal to the book value of the Parent Company’s common stock but not less than 80% of the average market 
price quoted in PSE for five trading days immediately preceding the grant, but in no case less than the par value. The option or subscription price should be paid over a period 
of five years in 120 equal semi-monthly installments. Shares acquired under the Amended Plan are subject to a holding period of one year.

A summary of the plan availments is shown below.

  Number of
  Shares
 Shares allocated under the Original Stock Option Plan 19,262,500
 Shares allocated under the Amended Stock Option Plan 15,737,500
   Total shares allocated 35,000,000
 Shares subscribed under the Original Stock Option Plan 19,365,815
 Shares subscribed under the Amended Stock Option Plan 10,886,188
   Total shares subscribed 30,252,003
 Shares allocated at end of year 4,747,997

Since 2000, there were no shares under the stock option plan that were granted, forfeited, exercised and expired.

No benefit expense is recognized relative to the shares issued under the stock option plan. When options are exercised, these are treated as capital stock issuances. The stock 
option plan is exempt from PFRS 2.

18. Costs of Construction Contracts 

This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Personnel expenses (Note 27)  P1,207,447,340 P1,798,378,421 P1,798,939,461
 Equipment costs and others  1,128,569,820 1,881,634,061 1,690,561,295
 Materials  993,743,901 1,533,741,566 1,475,366,119
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22)  70,751,224 61,773,969 40,196,147
   P3,400,512,285 P5,275,528,017 P5,005,063,022

19. Costs of Services 

This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Personnel expenses (Note 27)  P1,817,165,620 P2,802,717,906 P1,624,539,567
 Materials  22,730,423 65,293,518 32,706,131
 Others  5,378,259 2,021,382 1,921,446
   P1,845,274,302 P2,870,032,806 P1,659,167,144
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20. Costs of Merchandise Sales 

This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Inventories  P101,219,259 P90,141,801 P99,604,321
 Personnel expenses (Note 27)  11,681,801 3,875,304 8,544,733
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22)  – 3,175,797 2,730,072
 Others  6,279,594 5,745,373 4,419,260
   P119,180,654 P102,938,275 P115,298,386

21.  Selling and Administrative Expenses 

This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Personnel expenses (Note 27)  P258,132,631 P267,538,623 P176,074,303
 Rent (Note 26)  48,760,149 47,448,822 48,043,545
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 22)  42,073,139 35,106,856 18,132,693
 Travel and transportation  36,158,465 39,710,804 39,310,763
 Utilities  31,886,552 36,661,907 30,571,345
 Outside services  29,045,757 38,795,132 18,047,801
 Professional fees  28,987,813 36,826,699 29,953,649
 Taxes and licenses (Note 12)  23,595,511 40,660,256 8,846,723
 Net provision for (recovery of) doubtful accounts (Notes 5 and 26)  21,293,472 (28,064,440) 4,564,680
 Repairs and maintenance  12,643,338 16,757,925 13,420,767
 Net provision for (recovery of) inventory obsolescence (Note 7)  1,358,464 20,317,401 (7,422,139)
 Supplies  5,507,486 9,579,053 9,898,777
 Entertainment, amusement and recreation  3,777,987 8,575,723 8,357,841
 Others  27,582,019 58,137,721 43,442,802
   P570,802,783 P628,052,482 P441,243,550

Below are the details of net provision for (recovery of) doubtful accounts:

   2009 2008 2007
 Receivables (Note 5)   
   Provision during the year  P22,050,689 P10,842,746 P6,493,203
   Recoveries  (7,757,217) (38,907,186) (1,928,523)
 Due from related parties (Note 26)  7,000,000 – –
   P21,293,472 (P28,064,440) P4,564,680

22.  Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization are charged to the following accounts:

   2009 2008 2007
 Cost of construction contracts (Notes 11, 12 and 18)  P70,751,224 P61,773,969 P40,196,147
 Selling and administrative expenses (Notes 11, 12 and 21)  42,073,139 35,106,856 18,132,693
 Cost of merchandise sold (Notes 11, 12 and 20)  – 3,175,797 2,730,072
   P112,824,363 P100,056,622 P61,058,912

23.  Interest Income 

This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Receivables from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. (Note 13 and 26)  P37,276,887 P27,797,165 P27,960,870
 Savings deposit and short-term investments (Note 4)  34,549,752 27,397,575 36,404,187
   P71,826,639 P55,194,740 P64,365,057
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24. Other Income  
This account consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Tax reimbursement  P63,758,707 P181,601,248 P50,980,272
 Reversal of provision for losses  21,742,356 – –
 Gain on sale of assets  11,757,307 6,924,804 –
 Income from defaults  7,562,476 2,178,248 5,945,144
 Rental income (Note 12)  2,530,278 1,192,349 2,769,526
 Others  40,195,182 45,263,520 21,541,083
   P147,546,306 P237,160,169 P81,236,025

Reversal of provision for losses amounting to P21.7 million in 2009 pertains to EEI NC’s reversal of provisions for potential reworks and medical claims.

25.  Income Taxes 

The provision for income tax consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Current   
   Foreign  P164,230,182 P277,391,493 P108,500,728
   Domestic  46,576,140 50,299,805 29,002,883
   210,806,322 327,691,298 137,503,611
 Deferred   
   Domestic  (12,955,979) (17,629,504) (26,667,062)
   P197,850,343 P310,061,794 P110,836,549

 The income tax payable consists of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Foreign  P131,202,837 P208,935,647 P92,811,957
 Domestic  7,349,525 2,665,291 6,501,002
   P138,552,362 P211,600,938 P99,312,959

The components of the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

   2009 2008 2007
 Net deferred tax assets on:   
   Allowance for doubtful accounts  P60,240,007 P58,987,726 P56,694,602
   Accrued retirement   48,938,668 46,295,824 5,075,068
   Allowance for inventory obsolescence  5,091,637 10,509,177 –
   NOLCO  2,597,156 74,206 19,410,793
   Unrealized foreign currency exchange losses (gains)  897,775 (15,078,630) 3,040,561
   Other provisions  38,469 5,453,131 –
   MCIT  – – 9,099,254
   P117,803,712 P106,241,434 P93,320,278
   
 Net deferred tax liabilities on:   
   Capitalized borrowing cost  P5,390,221 P6,174,572 P10,682,407
   Pension assets   1,061,349 2,159,001 –
   Allowance for inventory obsolescence  (412,050) (412,050) –
   Allowance for doubtful accounts  (291,125) (178,400) –
   Provision for incentive bonus  – (601,027) –
   Unrealized foreign currency exchange gain  – – 1,168,037
   P5,748,395 P7,142,096 P11,850,444

 The Group did not recognize deferred tax assets in 2009, 2008 and 2007 on cumulative translation adjustments.  The Group did not also recognize deferred tax liabilities on 
equity in net earnings of foreign subsidiaries in 2009, 2008 and 2007. The Group determined that the reversal of these cumulative translation adjustments and equity in net 
earnings of foreign subsidiaries can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

 The Group did not recognize any deferred tax liabilities on unremitted earnings of the Group’s investments in associate and joint venture amounting to P166.0 million, P155.9 
million and P161.9 million as at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

 The Group did not recognize any deferred tax asset in relation to unexpired share options as this has negative intrinsic value.

 The Group did not recognize any deferred tax assets (liabilities) on the following temporary differences of certain subsidiaries as management assessed that it is not probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.
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   2009 2008 2007
 MCIT  P22,482,952 P30,096,011 P9,655,968
 Allowance for inventory obsolescence  44,204,596 42,707,452 82,649,830
 Allowance for doubtful accounts  30,394,527 30,391,196 74,703,453
 NOLCO  8,055,025 70,372,830 11,034,472
 Accrued retirement benefits (pension assets)  1,382,804 1,430,577 (10,795,046)
 Allowance for impairment of AFS  530,144 – –
 Unrealized foreign currency exchange losses (gains)  5,540 (439,501) 1,705,824
 Other provisions  35,980,092 1,637,756 7,560,608
   P143,035,680 P176,196,321 P176,515,109

 On October 18, 2005, the Supreme Court has rendered its final decision declaring the validity of Republic Act No. 9337 (new EVAT Law) which included, among others, 
(a) provisions for the increase in corporate income tax rate from 32% to 35% effective November 1, 2005 and later on reducing the rate to 30% effective January 1, 2009 
and (b) the change in allowable deduction for interest expense from 38% to 42% effective November 1, 2005 and 33% beginning January 1, 2009.

 The Group’s NOLCO and MCIT will expire in the following years:
  NOLCO 
   Year Incurred Expiry Date At Gross Tax Benefit MCIT
 2007 2010 P4,281,415 P1,284,425 P5,021,569
 2008 2011 3,473,667 1,042,100 16,433,624
   2009 2012 8,957,130 2,687,139 1,027,759
     P16,712,212 P5,013,664 P22,482,952

The following shows the movement of NOLCO and MCIT in 2009, 2008 and 2007:

 NOLCO  2009 2008 2007
 Beginning of the year  P70,620,183 P66,493,881 P15,438,011
 Addition  8,957,130 4,140,828 58,406,665
 Applied portion  (55,021,985) – –
 Expired portion  (7,843,116) (14,526) (7,350,795)
   P16,712,212 P70,620,183 P66,493,881

 MCIT  2009 2008 2007
 Beginning of the year  P30,096,011 P18,755,222 P18,324,764
 Addition  1,027,759 16,433,624 9,590,933
 Applied portion  (7,619,804) – –
 Expired portion  (1,021,014) (5,092,835) (9,160,475)
   P22,482,952 P30,096,011 P18,755,222

 The reconciliation between the statutory and effective income tax rates follows:
   2009 2008 2007
 Statutory income tax rate  30.0% 35.0% 35.0%
 Add (deduct) reconciling items:   
   Equity in net earnings of associates and joint ventures  (20.9) (23.2) (30.0)
   Change in unrecognized deferred taxes  (2.1) (7.2) (6.6)
   Income subjected to final taxes at lower rates  (0.4) (0.3) (0.4)
   Effect of adjustment due to change in statutory tax rate  – 2.6 –
   Others  19.4 30.1 28.7
 Effective income tax rate  26.0% 37.0% 26.7%

26. Related Party Transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be 
individuals or corporate entities. Transactions with related parties and other transactions are made at rates agreed upon by the parties.

The outstanding balances arising from related party transactions in the consolidated statements of financial position consist of the following:

   2009 2008 2007
 Due from related parties    
   Associate (net of allowance for doubtful 
     accounts amounting to P7.0 million in 2009)  P298,107,463 P21,280,175 P35,699,799
   Entities under common control  33,520,652 33,872,748 108,944,948
   331,628,115 55,152,923 144,644,747
 Due to related parties   
   Entities under common control  18,484,047 6,045,336 7,642,536
 Receivables from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. (Notes 13 and 23)  435,098,216 441,388,250 455,655,751
 Bank loans (Note 14)   
   Entities under common control  38,000,000 58,853,057 61,010,581

 Long-term debt - related bank (including current portion) (Note 16)   
   Entities under common control  322,012,239 467,719,987 496,038,581
 Lease liability (Notes 13 and 33)   
   Entities under common control  31,238,849 80,557,808 104,612,915
 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)   
   Entities under common control  543,654,011 711,100,491 338,457,191
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 Related parties include entities under common control, which pertain to other subsidiaries of PMMIC, which is the Group’s ultimate parent company.

 All outstanding balances, except for the long-term portion of long-term debt and receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc., are expected to be realized and settled within one 
year from the date of statements of financial position.

 In 2009, 2008 and 2007, transactions with related parties pertain to cash advances and settlement of accounts which arose from reimbursement of expenses and administrative 
service agreements.

 Below are the Group’s transactions with related parties:

a. In 2006, the Parent Company sold parcels of land to EEI Retirement Fund, Inc., a trustee of the Parent Company employees retirement fund (the Fund). The Fund is 
managed by RCBC Trust and Investment Division. The parcels of land sold are located in Manggahan, Quezon City and Bauan, Batangas. The details of the receivables 
are discussed in Note 13. Interest income recognized from the Fund is disclosed in Note 23.

 Starting January 2007, the Parent Company and EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. entered into operating lease agreements for the said land and improvements. The terms are for 
one year and renewable at the option of the Parent Company provided that for each and every renewal, the monthly rentals shall be increased upon mutual agreement 
of both parties. Annual rental for the property located in Manggahan, Quezon City amounted to P45.0 million which is charged to rental expense in the statement of 
income for the three years ended December 31, 2009 (see Note 21). Annual rental for the property located in Bauan, Batangas amounted to P46.0 million which is 
charged to cost of construction contracts in the statement of income for the three years ended December 31, 2009 (see Note 18).

b. The Group has bank loans and long-term debts with its affiliated bank.  Interest expense pertaining to these borrowings amounted to P91.2 million, P114.2 million and 
P113.9 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

c. Parent Company entered into various lease agreements with MRC and FMLFC. The terms shall be for 4 to 5 years and payable monthly based on the due dates set forth 
in the contracts without the necessity of any formal demand. Rent expense charged to operations amounted to P10.1 million, P9.2 million and P0.4 million in 2009, 
2008 and 2007, respectively (see Note 21).

d. The Group maintains cash and cash equivalents with its affiliated bank. Interest income related to these deposits amounted to P8.6 million, P6.3 million and P4.8 million 
in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

e. In 2009, the Parent Company recognized provision for doubtful accounts on its receivable from an associate amounting to P7.0 million.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel of the Group
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management are as follows:

   2009 2008 2007
 Short-term benefits (Note 21)  P56,946,464 P49,370,083 P45,552,297
 Post-employment benefits (Note 27)  6,916,219 4,327,850 3,922,099
   P63,862,683 P53,697,933 P49,474,396

27. Retirement Cost 

The Parent Company and certain subsidiaries have funded, noncontributory defined benefit pension plans (the Plan) covering substantially all of their employees. The Plan 
provides for normal, early retirement, death and disability benefits. Retirement costs are actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. Retirement expense 
charged to operations as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P63.2 million, P53.8 million and P66.2 million, respectively.

 
The following tables summarize the components of the retirement expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income and the funded status and amounts recognized 
in the consolidated statements of financial position for the retirement plan.

Retirement expense consists of:
 
   2009 2008 2007
 Current service cost  P9,999,088 P25,014,071 P30,049,161
 Interest expense on obligations  60,998,614 31,751,837 27,645,966
 Expected return on plan assets  (18,989,907) (16,922,837) (12,614,653)
 Amortization of additional retirement liability  12,945,678 12,945,678 12,945,679
 Asset ceiling adjustment  1,023,963 725,437 6,649,315
 Recognized actuarial losses (gains)  (2,757,245) 243,174 1,547,951
   P63,220,191 P53,757,360 P66,223,419

The actual return on the plan assets amounted to P29.0 million, P4.8 million and P9.2 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
The reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation and the net retirement asset (see Note 13) and liability (see Note 15) in the consolidated statements of 
financial position follows:

Net retirement asset
   2009 2008 2007
 Present value of defined benefit obligations  (P309,813,285) (P193,223,454) (P267,014,481)
 Fair value of plan assets  325,592,951 272,787,958 220,009,726
   15,779,666 79,564,504 (47,004,755)
 Unamortized additional retirement liability  – 12,945,678 24,082,350
 Unrecognized actuarial gain (loss)  (6,811,006) (81,561,178) 44,737,907
 Net retirement asset  P8,968,660 P10,949,004 P21,815,502
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Net retirement liability

   2009 2008 2007
 Present value of defined benefit obligations  P27,993,324 P8,425,366 P41,205,273
 Fair value of plan assets  (13,963,345) – (17,528,392)
   14,029,979 8,425,366 23,676,881
 Unamortized additional retirement liability  – – (1,809,007)
 Unrecognized actuarial gain (loss)  (31,678) 2,904,798 (8,861,674)
 Net retirement liability  P13,998,301 P11,330,164 P13,006,200

Changes in the present value of defined obligation follow:
 
   2009 2008 2007
 Balance at beginning of year  P201,648,820 P308,219,754 P386,086,295
 Interest expense on obligations  60,998,614 31,751,837 27,645,966
 Current service cost  9,999,088 25,014,071 30,049,161
 Benefits paid  (20,226,854) (15,647,360) (4,493,472)
 Actuarial gain (loss)  85,386,941 (147,689,482) (131,068,196)
 Balance at end of year  P337,806,609 P201,648,820 P308,219,754

Changes in the fair value of plan assets follow:
 
   2009 2008 2007
 Balance at beginning of year  P272,787,958 P237,538,118 P120,240,460
 Expected return on plan assets  18,989,907 16,922,837 12,614,653
 Contributions  59,066,390 46,053,996 112,640,940
 Actuarial gain (loss)  9,962,858 (12,079,633) (3,464,463)
 Benefits paid  (20,226,854) (15,647,360) (4,493,472)
   P340,580,259 P272,787,958 P237,538,118
 Allowance for asset ceiling adjustment  1,023,963 – –
 Balance at end of year  P339,556,296 P272,787,958 P237,538,118

The Group expects to contribute P50.4 million to the fund in 2010. The contribution is essential to meet the expected return on the plan assets that will minimize the actuarial 
losses that form part of the pension expense.
 
The Group’s annual contribution to the retirement plan consists of payment covering the current service cost for the year plus amortization of the actuarial accrued liability, 
interest cost on unfunded liability and actuarial gains or losses.
 
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows:
 

    2009 2008 2007
 Investment in government securities   53% 51% 18%
 Other securities and debt instruments   19% 18% 6%
 Deposit in bank   11% 20% 62%
 Receivables   10% 4% 12%
 Investment in shares of stock   7% 7% 2%
    100% 100% 100%
 

The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date applicable to the period over which the obligation is to 
be settled.

The fund holds investments in shares of stock of the Parent Company with fair market value of P15,248 in 2009.

Principal actuarial assumptions used to determine pension obligations follow:
 
   2009 2008 2007
 Discount rate   
   Beginning of year  31.29% 10.36% 7.6%
   End of year  10.51% 31.29% 10.36%
 Expected rate of return   
   Beginning of year  6.88% 5.28% 10.49%
   End of year  7.00% 6.88% 5.28%
 Salary increases   
   Beginning of year  9.63% 9.00% 9.86%
   End of year  8.00% 9.63% 9.00%
 

Amounts for the current and previous periods are as follows:
 
  2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
 Present value of defined benefit obligation (P337,806,609) (P201,648,820) (P308,219,754) (P386,086,295) (P209,509,173)
 Fair value of plan assets 339,556,296 272,787,958 237,538,118 120,240,460 30,611,719
 Surplus (deficit) of plan assets 1,749,687 71,139,138 (70,681,636) (265,845,835) (178,897,454)
 Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (47,284,272) (2,763,950) (2,996,029) (4,096,748) (5,533,609)
 Experience adjustments on plan assets 11,466,449 (1,112,171) (3,464,463) 2,996,029 3,464,463
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 Changes in the additional retirement liability arising from amortization of transition liability upon the Group’s first time adoption of PAS 19 follow:
 
   2009 2008 2007
 Balance at beginning of year  P12,945,678 P25,891,357 P38,837,036
 Less amortization during the year  12,945,678 12,945,679 12,945,679
 Balance at end of year  P– P12,945,678 P25,891,357
 

28. Earnings Per Share 

The following table presents information necessary to calculate earnings per share:

   2009 2008 2007
 Net income  P563,204,513 P506,333,530 P304,084,804
 Weighted average number of common shares  1,036,281,485 1,036,281,485 1,036,131,381
 Earnings per share - basic/diluted  P0.5435 P0.4886 P0.2935

The exercise price of unexercised stock options is still higher than the average market price during the year making the options anti-dilutive, hence, no diluted earnings per 
share is calculated.

The rollforward analysis of the number of shares for 2009, 2008 and 2007 follows:

   2009 2008 2007
 Balance at beginning of year  1,036,401,386 1,036,251,282 914,761,519
 Issuance through stock rights offering  – – 120,000,000
 Changes in subscription receivables  – 150,104 1,489,763
   1,036,401,386 1,036,401,386 1,036,251,282
 Treasury shares  (119,901) (119,901) (119,901)
 Balance at end of year  1,036,281,485 1,036,281,485 1,036,131,381

29. Segment Information 

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on geographical location, which comprises of two main groupings as follows:

•	 Domestic	-	all	transaction	and	contracts	entered	in	the	Philippines.
•	 Foreign	-	all	transactions	and	contracts	entered	outside	the	Philippines.
•	 ARCC	-	Al	Rushaid	Construction	Company	Limited	-	incorporated	in	the	Kingdom	of	Saudi	Arabia
•	 NC	-	EEI-Nouvelle	Caledonie	SARL	-	incorporated	in	New	Caledonia
•	 CJIL	-	Clear	Jewel	Investments,	Ltd.	-	incorporated	in	British	Virgin	Islands

Management monitors construction revenue and segment net income for the purpose of making decision about resources allocation. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on net income and construction revenue, which is accounted for differently in the consolidated statement of income.

Segment reporting is consistent in all periods presented as there are no changes in the structure of the Group’s internal organization that will cause the composition of its 
reportable segment to change.

 
 (In thousand pesos)

   2009 
  Domestic Foreign Combined Elimination Consolidated
 Assets      
 Current assets P6,261,140 P7,577,346 P13,838,486 (P8,115,176) P5,723,310 
   Noncurrent assets 2,518,692 3,170,776 5,689,468 (3,236,272) 2,453,196 
 Total Assets P8,779,832 P10,748,122 P19,527,954 (P11,351,448) P8,176,506
 Liabilities
   Current liabilities P5,510,158 P6,915,784 P12,425,942 (P8,021,737) P4,404,205
   Noncurrent liabilities 516,450 318,817 835,267 (318,817) 516,450 
 Total Liabilities P6,026,608 P7,234,601 P13,261,209 (P8,340,554) P4,920,655
 Revenue P5,037,515 P17,535,990 P22,573,505 (P16,306,422) P6,267,083 
 Direct cost (3,939,635) (15,178,320) (19,117,955) 13,679,037 (5,438,918)
 Operating expenses (609,301) (1,535,394) (2,144,695) 1,573,892 (570,803)
 Interest expense (211,644) – (211,644) 1,514 (210,130)
 Other income (charges) 114,930 122,150 237,080 (53,620) 183,460 
 Distribution of ARCC’s  net income – (552,010) (552,010) 1,082,373 530,363 
 Income before tax 391,865 392,416 784,281 (23,226) 761,055 
 Provision for income tax (33,621) (164,230) (197,851) – (197,851)
 Net income P358,244 P228,186 P586,430  (P23,226)  P563,205 
   2009 
  Domestic Foreign Combined Elimination Consolidated
 Cash flows arising from:
   Operating activities P600,111 P255,600 P855,711 (P612,885) P242,826
   Investing activities (823,887) (709,886) (1,533,773) 1,102,198 (431,575)
   Financing activities (63,059) 386,617 323,558 (386,617) (63,059)
 Number of employees 5,379 11,178 16,557 – 16,557
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   2008 
  Domestic Foreign Combined Elimination Consolidated
 Assets
   Current assets P6,323,624 P5,846,298 P12,169,922 (P6,390,543) P5,779,379
   Noncurrent assets 2,157,581 2,494,773 4,652,354 (2,592,746) 2,059,608
 Total Assets P8,481,205 P8,341,071 P16,822,276 (P8,983,289) P7,838,987
 Liabilities
   Current liabilities P5,552,120 P5,995,127 P11,547,247 (P6,883,677) P4,663,570
   Noncurrent liabilities 413,269 210,485 623,754 (211,103) 412,651
 Total Liabilities P5,965,389 P6,205,612 P12,171,001 (P7,094,780) P5,076,221
 Revenue P6,962,240 P13,035,933 P19,998,173 (P10,807,749) P9,190,424
 Direct cost (6,031,966) (10,552,859) (16,584,825) 8,188,581 (8,396,244)
 Operating expenses (551,330) (1,438,772) (1,990,102) 1,362,050 (628,052)
 Interest expense (267,020) (8,783) (275,803) 17,565 (258,238)
 Other income (charges) 188,555 256,500 445,055 (167,716) 277,339
 Distribution of ARCC’s net income  – (656,954) (656,954) 1,288,120 631,166
 Income before tax 300,479 635,065 935,544 (119,149) 816,395
 Provision for income tax (32,671) (277,390) (310,061) – (310,061)
 Net income P267,808 P357,675 P625,483 (P119,149) P506,334

 Cash flows arising from:
   Operating activities P753,684 P2,173,029 P2,926,713 (P2,816,358) P110,355
   Investing activities (469,696) (298,964) (768,660) 888,694 120,034
   Financing activities 284,753 (1,835,062) (1,550,309) 1,835,062 284,753
 Number of employees 6,039 8,548 14,587 – 14,587

   2007 
  Domestic Foreign Combined Elimination Consolidated
 Assets
   Current assets P5,449,237 P3,317,586 P8,766,823 (P3,992,753) P4,774,070
   Noncurrent assets 1,915,715 1,725,830 3,641,545 (1,952,554) 1,688,991
 Total Assets P7,364,952 P5,043,416 P12,408,368 (P5,945,307) P6,463,061
 Liabilities
   Current liabilities P4,379,070 P3,496,657 P7,875,727 (P4,262,373) P3,613,354
   Noncurrent liabilities 604,341 65,864 670,205 (65,864) 604,341
 Total Liabilities P4,983,411 P3,562,521 P8,545,932 (P4,328,237) P4,217,695
 Revenue P6,252,091 P6,260,685 P12,512,776 (P5,030,033) P7,482,743
 Direct cost (5,625,958) (5,058,858) (10,684,816) 3,773,395 (6,911,421)
 Operating expenses (443,822) (639,213) (1,083,035) 641,791 (441,244)
 Interest expense (175,554) (9,152) (184,706) 18,304 (166,402)
 Other income (charges) 183,261 171,940 355,201 (260,179) 95,022
 Distribution of ARCC’s net income  – (370,763) (370,763) 726,986 356,223
 Income before tax 190,018 354,639 544,657 (129,736) 414,921
 Provision for income tax (335) (110,501) (110,836) – (110,836)
 Net income P189,683 P244,138 P433,821 (P129,736) P304,085
 Cash flows arising from:
   Operating activities (P698,425) P989,142 P290,717 (P948,939) (P658,222)
   Investing activities (256,930) (672,409) (929,339) 673,927 (255,412)
   Financing activities 694,233 1,095 695,328 52,844 748,172
 Number of employees 10,740 7,444 18,184 – 18,184

Notes to operating segments:
1. Intersegment revenues, cost and expenses, assets and liabilities are eliminated on consolidation. These are accounted for under PFRS.
2. Other income (charges) consist of:

   2009 2008 2007
 Interest income and other income  P219,372,945 P292,354,909 P145,601,082
 Foreign exchange loss - net  (35,913,273) (15,015,342) (50,579,084)
   P183,459,672 P277,339,567 P95,021,998

3. The foreign segment above includes the results of operations of ARCC at 100%. The consolidated financial statements of the Group present its 49% share in ARCC 
under the equity in net earnings account.

4. Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and investment properties.
5. The domestic segment above includes land and building classified as held for sale amounting to P33.9 million in 2009 (see Note 11).
6. The foreign segment has revenue from one customer amounting to P1.6 billion, P2.8 billion and P1.4 billion in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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30. Retained Earnings 
On March 20, 2009, Parent Company declared a cash dividend of P0.10 per share to common stockholders of record broken down as follows:

 Record Date Payment Date Amount 
 April 7, 2009 April 30, 2009 P0.025 per share
 June 4, 2009 June 30, 2009 P0.025 per share
 September 4, 2009 September 30, 2009 P0.025 per share
 December 2, 2009 December 29, 2009 P0.025 per share

The total amount of cash dividends declared and paid amounted to P103.6 million in 2009.

On June 20, 2008, Parent Company declared a cash dividend of P0.05 per share to common stockholders of record as of July 15, 2008. The total amount of cash dividends 
declared and paid amounted to P51.8 million in 2008.

31. Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in the consolidated financial 
statements. The carrying values are net of allowance for doubtful accounts. There are no material unrecognized financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2009, 2008  
and 2007.

 
   2009 2008 2007 
  Carrying Values Fair Values Carrying Values Fair  Values Carrying Values Fair Values
Financial Assets      
Loans and receivables      
Cash and cash equivalents      
Cash in banks P695,021,056 P695,021,056 P586,943,519 P586,943,519 P448,389,076 P448,389,076
Short-term investments 189,934,459 189,934,459 588,939,693 588,939,693 207,190,179 207,190,179
Receivables       
Trade receivables 1,987,587,182 1,987,587,182 1,425,831,423 1,425,831,423 856,572,817 856,572,817
Tax refund from tax authorities 92,316,178 92,316,178 230,914,781 230,914,781 249,653,564 249,653,564
Consultancy fee 88,710,721 88,710,721 119,482,007 119,482,007 62,281,345 62,281,345
Advances to officers and employees 19,490,083 19,490,083 24,740,320 24,740,320 29,672,570 29,672,570
Reimbursable taxes 18,000,906 18,000,906 142,638,598 142,638,598 54,563,557 54,563,557
Other receivables 48,794,959 48,794,959 98,028,703 98,028,703 4,329,149 4,329,149
Due from related parties 331,628,115 331,628,115 55,152,923 55,152,923 144,644,747 144,644,747
Miscellaneous deposits 40,452,341 40,452,341 46,079,064 46,079,064 40,843,932 40,843,932
Other noncurrent assets      
Receivable from retirement fund  435,098,216 436,009,108 441,388,250 419,501,543 455,655,751 454,640,292
Long-term receivables 13,664,695 16,881,430 17,438,441 19,031,673 20,741,799 22,087,874
  3,960,698,911 3,964,826,538 3,777,577,722 3,757,284,247 2,574,538,486 2,574,869,102
AFS securities      
Quoted shares 17,858,708 17,858,708 19,109,564 19,109,564 26,181,167 26,181,167
Unquoted shares 85,086,835 85,086,835 86,460,006 86,460,006 72,958,005 72,958,005
  102,945,543 102,945,543 105,569,570 105,569,570 99,139,172 99,139,172
  P4,063,644,454 P4,067,772,081 P3,883,147,292 P3,862,853,817 P2,673,677,658 P2,674,008,274

   2009 2008 2007 
  Carrying Values Fair Values Carrying Values Fair  Values Carrying Values Fair Values
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Bank loans
Secured bank loans P1,011,617,298 P1,011,617,298 P557,900,000 P557,900,000 P348,375,000 P348,375,000
Unsecured bank loans 163,000,000 163,000,000 785,000,000 785,000,000 657,000,000 657,000,000
Accounts payable and accrued
  expenses
Accounts payable 817,653,965 817,653,965 748,868,357 748,868,357 493,865,036 493,865,036
Accrued expenses 85,722,007 85,722,007 218,898,514 218,898,514 181,421,275 181,421,275
Retention payables 174,606,298 174,606,298 177,415,774 177,415,774 172,776,223 172,776,223
Others  68,341,742 68,341,742 112,040,594 112,040,594 95,409,773 95,409,773
Due to related parties 18,484,047 18,484,047 6,045,336 6,045,336 7,642,536 7,642,536
Long-term debt 622,012,239 626,998,286 467,719,987 623,893,004 496,038,581 555,753,200
  P2,961,437,596 P2,966,423,643 P3,073,888,562 P3,230,061,579 P2,452,528,424 P2,512,243,043

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument for which it is practicable to estimate such value:

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Receivable, Due from Related Parties and Miscellaneous Deposits
Due to the short-term nature of transactions, the fair values approximate their carrying amounts.

Other Noncurrent Assets
The fair values of receivables from retirement fund and long-term receivables are estimated as the present value of all future cash flows discounted using the applicable rates for similar 
loans. Discount rates used ranged from 6.98% to 7.88%.
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AFS Securities
The fair values of quoted equity securities are based on quoted market prices. In the absence of a reliable basis of determining fair values due to the unpredictable nature of 
future cash flows and the lack of suitable methods in arriving at a reliable fair value, the unquoted equity securities are carried at cost less any impairment allowance.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses, Bank Loans and Due to Related Parties
The carrying amounts of accounts payable and accrued expenses, bank loans and due to related parties approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of the 
transaction.

Long-term Debt
The fair value is estimated as the present value of all future cash flows discounted using the applicable rates for similar loans. Discount rates used ranged from 7.29% to 
9.02%.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:

  Level 1:  quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
  Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly
  Level 3: techniques which use inputs have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.

The quoted AFS securities of the Group fall under level 1 as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. The Group has no financial assets that fall under level 2 and 3 as of 
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

32. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 

The main purpose of the Group’s financial instruments is to raise finances for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The policies for managing these risks are summarized as follows:
 

Credit Risk
The exposure to credit risk on its receivables relates primarily to the inability of project owners to fully settle the unpaid balance of contract receivables and other claims owed 
to the Group.  Credit risk is managed in accordance with the Group’s credit risk policy which requires the evaluation of the creditworthiness of the project owners such as 
financial performance for the past three years.

The Group does not have any significant concentration of credit risk.  Its maximum exposure to credit risk is equivalent to face amount of its financial assets.

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position.  The maximum exposure is shown gross, 
before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting arrangements or collateral agreements.

 Statement of financial position items  2009 2008 2007
 Loans and receivables   
 Cash and cash equivalents
   Cash in banks  P695,021,056 P586,943,519 P448,389,076
   Short-term investments  189,934,459 588,939,693 207,190,179
 Receivables    
   Trade receivables  1,987,587,182 1,425,831,423 856,572,817
   Tax refund from tax authorities  92,316,178 230,914,781 249,653,564
   Consultancy fee  88,710,721 119,482,007 62,281,345
   Advances to officers and employees  19,490,083 24,740,320 29,672,570
   Reimbursable taxes  18,000,906 142,638,598 54,563,557
   Other receivables  48,794,959 98,028,703 4,329,149
 Due from related parties  331,628,115 55,152,923 144,644,747
 Miscellaneous deposits  40,452,341 46,079,064 40,843,932
 Other noncurrent assets    
   Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc.  435,098,216 441,388,250 455,655,751
   Long-term receivables  13,664,695 17,438,441 20,741,799
   3,960,698,911 3,777,577,722 2,574,538,486
 AFS securities   
 Quoted shares  17,858,708 19,109,564 26,181,167
 Unquoted shares  85,086,835 86,460,006 72,958,005
   102,945,543 105,569,570 99,139,172
 Total credit risk exposure  P4,063,644,454 P3,883,147,292 P2,673,677,658

The analyses of loans and receivables and AFS securities are as follows:

  2009 
  Neither   Past Due but Not Impaired  Impaired
  Past Due   30 to <60 60 to <90  Financial
  nor Impaired <30 days days days >90 days Assets Total
 Loans and receivables       
 Cash and cash equivalents       
 Cash in banks P695,021,056 P– P– P– P– P– P695,021,056
 Short-term investments 189,934,459 – – – – – 189,934,459
 Receivables       
 Trade receivables 1,129,914,644 200,354,510 106,930,410 243,040,362 307,347,256 149,955,481 2,137,542,663
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  2009 
  Neither   Past Due but Not Impaired  Impaired
  Past Due   30 to <60 60 to <90  Financial
  nor Impaired <30 days days days >90 days Assets Total
 Tax refund from tax authorities – – – – 92,316,178 976,269 93,292,447
 Consultancy fee 16,249,926 12,595,055 8,757,266 22,436,700 28,671,774 – 88,710,721
 Advances to officers and employees 1,347,655 – 4,891,173 1,474,934 11,776,321 – 19,490,083
 Reimbursable taxes – 18,000,906 – – – – 18,000,906
 Other receivables 9,698,171 4,435,881 11,094,008 12,011,478 11,555,421 34,003,169 82,798,128
 Due from related parties 25,639,191 6,739,589 2,306,710 667,951 296,274,674 7,000,000 338,628,115
 Miscellaneous deposits 31,805,449 – – 4,907,642 3,739,250 – 40,452,341
 Other noncurrent assets       
 Receivable from EEI 
 Retirement Fund, Inc. 435,098,216 – – – – – 435,098,216
 Long-term receivables 13,664,695 – – – – – 13,664,695
  P2,548,373,462 P242,125,941 P133,979,567 P284,539,067 P751,680,874 P191,934,919 P4,152,633,830
 AFS securities
 Quoted shares P17,858,708 P– P– P– P– P– P17,858,708
 Unquoted shares 85,086,835 – – – – – 85,086,835
  P102,945,543 P– P– P– P– P– P102,945,543

  2008 
  Neither   Past Due but Not Impaired  Impaired
  Past Due   30 to <60 60 to <90  Financial
  nor Impaired <30 days days days >90 days Assets Total
 Loans and receivables
 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash in banks P586,943,519 P– P– P– P– P– P586,943,519
 Short-term investments 588,939,693 – – – – – 588,939,693
 Receivables       
 Trade receivables 663,056,322 294,942,000 57,147,822 60,015,782 350,669,497 156,902,959 1,582,734,382
 Tax refund from tax authorities – – – – 230,914,781 976,269 231,891,050
 Consultancy fee – – – – 119,482,007 – 119,482,007
 Advances to officers and employees 7,345,442 591,199 20,250 – 16,783,429 – 24,740,320
 Reimbursable taxes 142,638,598 – – – – – 142,638,598
 Other receivables 54,004,920 1,366,281 3,001,035 2,791,654 36,864,813 34,003,169 132,031,872
 Due from related parties 55,152,923 – – – – – 55,152,923
 Miscellaneous deposits 39,671,268 – – 2,239,095 4,168,701 – 46,079,064
 Other noncurrent assets       
 Receivable from EEI 
 Retirement Fund, Inc. 441,388,250 – – – – – 441,388,250
 Long-term receivables 17,438,441 – – – – – 17,438,441
  P2,596,579,376 P296,899,480 P60,169,107 P65,046,531 P758,883,228 P191,882,397 P3,969,460,119
 AFS securities
 Quoted shares P19,109,564 P– P– P– P– P– P19,109,564
 Unquoted shares 86,460,006 – – – – – 86,460,006
  P105,569,570 P– P– P– P– P– P105,569,570

  2007 
  Neither   Past Due but Not Impaired  Impaired
  Past Due   30 to <60 60 to <90  Financial
  nor Impaired <30 days days days >90 days Assets Total
 Loans and receivables
   Cash and cash equivalents
   Cash in banks P448,389,076 P− P− P− P− P− P448,389,076
 Short-term investments 207,190,179 − − − − − 207,190,179
 Receivables
 Trade receivables 421,756,911 46,700,724 22,214,621 18,249,691 347,650,870 186,216,410 1,042,789,227
 Tax refund from tax authorities − − − − 249,653,564 10,000,000 259,653,564
 Consultancy fee − − − − 62,281,345 − 62,281,345
 Advances to officers and employees 7,723,128 4,807,819 8,535,651 1,648,895 6,957,077 – 29,672,570
 Reimbursable taxes 54,563,557 − − − − − 54,563,557
 Other receivables 4,329,149 − − − − 33,305,856 37,635,005
 Due from related parties 144,644,747 − − − − − 144,644,747
 Miscellaneous deposits 35,668,990 – – 1,232,854 3,942,088 – 40,843,932
 Other noncurrent assets       
 Receivable from EEI 
 Retirement Fund, Inc. 455,655,751      455,655,751
 Long-term receivables 20,741,799 – – – – – 20,741,799
  P1,800,663,287 P51,508,543 P30,750,272 P21,131,440 P670,484,944 P229,522,266 P2,804,060,752
 AFS securities
 Quoted shares P26,181,167 P– P– P– P– P– P26,181,167
 Unquoted shares 72,958,005 – – – – – 72,958,005
  P99,139,172 P– P– P– P– P– P99,139,172

The risk that past due receivables from project owners will not be collected is mitigated by the fact  that the Group can resort to carry out its contractor’s lien over the project 
with varying degrees of  effectiveness depending on the jurisprudence applicable on or country location of the project. A contractor’s lien is the legal right of a contractor (the 
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Group) to takeover the projects-in-progress and has priority in the settlement of contractor’s receivables and claims on the project in the event of insolvency of the project owner.  
The Group assesses that the value of projects in-progress is usually higher than receivables from and future commitments with the project owners.  

 Trade and retention receivables from project owners are normally high standard because of the creditworthiness of project owners and the collection remedy of contractor’s lien 
accorded contractor in certain cases.

 The table below summarizes the credit quality of the Group’s neither past due nor impaired loans and receivables and AFS securities.
 
   2009   
   Neither Past Due nor Impaired  
   High Grade Standard Grade Total
 Loans and receivables   
 Cash and cash equivalents   
   Cash in banks  P695,021,056 P– P695,021,056
   Short-term investments  189,934,459 – 189,934,459
 Receivables   
   Trade receivables  1,045,586,028 84,328,616 1,129,914,644
   Consultancy fee  16,249,926 – 16,249,926
 Advances to officers and employees  1,347,655 – 1,347,655
 Other receivables  – 9,698,171 9,698,171
 Due from related parties  25,639,191 – 25,639,191
 Miscellaneous deposits  13,089,898 18,715,551 31,805,449
 Other noncurrent assets   
   Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc.  – 435,098,216 435,098,216
   Long-term receivables  – 13,664,695 13,664,695
   P1,986,868,213 P561,505,249 P2,548,373,462
 AFS securities
 Quoted shares  P– P17,858,708 P17,858,708
 Unquoted shares  – 85,086,835 85,086,835
   P– P102,945,543 P102,945,543

   2008   
   Neither Past Due nor Impaired  
   High Grade Standard Grade Total
 Loans and receivables
 Cash and cash equivalents
   Cash in banks  P586,943,519 P– P586,943,519
   Short-term investments  588,939,693 – 588,939,693
 Receivables   
   Trade receivables  119,011,894 544,044,428 663,056,322
   Reimbursable taxes  142,638,598 – 142,638,598
   Advances to officers and employees  7,345,442 – 7,345,442
   Other receivables  51,916,069 2,088,851 54,004,920
 Due from related parties  55,152,923 – 55,152,923
 Miscellaneous deposits  10,501,273 29,169,995 39,671,268
 Other noncurrent assets   
   Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc.  – 441,388,250 441,388,250
   Long-term receivables  – 17,438,441 17,438,441
   P1,562,449,411 P1,034,129,965 P2,596,579,376
 AFS securities   
 Quoted shares  P– P19,109,564 P19,109,564
 Unquoted shares  – 86,460,006 86,460,006
   P– P105,569,570 P105,569,570

   2007   
   Neither Past Due nor Impaired  
   High Grade Standard Grade Total
 Loans and receivables   
 Cash and cash equivalents   
   Cash in banks  P448,389,076 P– P448,389,076
   Short-term investments  207,190,179 – 207,190,179
 Receivables   
   Trade receivables  404,985,456 16,771,455 421,756,911
   Reimbursable taxes  54,563,557 – 54,563,557
   Advances to officers and employees  7,723,128 – 7,723,128
   Other receivables  4,329,149 – 4,329,149
 Due from related parties  144,644,747 – 144,644,747
 Miscellaneous deposits  6,904,973 28,764,017 35,668,990
 Other noncurrent assets    
   Receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc.  – 455,655,751 455,655,751
   Long-term receivables  – 20,741,799 20,741,799
   P1,278,730,265 P521,933,022 P1,800,663,287
 AFS securities   
 Quoted shares  P– P26,181,167 P26,181,167
 Unquoted shares  – 72,958,005 72,958,005
   P– P99,139,172 P99,139,172
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 Neither past due nor impaired trade receivables (including retention receivables), other receivables and miscellaneous deposits are classified into ‘high grade’ and ‘standard 
grade’. Neither past due nor impaired cash and cash equivalents, advances to officers and employees and due from related parties are normally ‘high grade’ in nature. The 
Group sets financial assets as ‘high grade’ based on the Group’s positive collection experience. On the other hand, ‘standard grade’ are those which have credit history of 
default in payments. The Group’s AFS securities and other noncurrent assets are classified as standard grade financial assets because these assets are susceptible to untoward 
consequences due to the current financial positions of the counterparties.

 Liquidity Risk 
 Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from 

either the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or counterparty failing on repayment of a contractual obligation or inability to generate cash inflows as 
anticipated.

 Short-term and long-term funding is obtained to finance capital expenditures and working capital. Credit lines are obtained from BOD-designated banks at amounts based on 
financial forecasts approved by BOD.

 The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets. The maturity groupings are based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period 
to the contractual maturity date.

  2009 
 On Demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total
Loans and receivables      
Cash and cash equivalents      
  Cash in banks P695,021,056 P– P– P– P– P695,021,056
  Short-term investments 1,636,141 188,298,318 – – – 189,934,459
Receivables       
  Trade receivables 1,105,196,189 882,390,993 – – – 1,987,587,182
  Reimbursable taxes – 18,000,906 – – – 18,000,906
  Consultancy fee 72,460,773 16,249,948 – – – 88,710,721
  Tax refund from tax authorities – 92,316,178 – – – 92,316,178
  Advances to officers and employees – 19,490,083 – – – 19,490,083
  Other receivables 28,734,388 20,060,571 – – – 48,794,959
Due from related parties 331,628,115 – – – – 331,628,115
Miscellaneous deposits 3,883,558 36,568,783 – – – 40,452,341
Other noncurrent assets
  Receivable from EEI
    Retirement Fund, Inc.
    Principal  – – – 435,098,216 – 435,098,216
    Interest – 32,632,366 32,632,366 32,632,366 – 97,897,098
  Long-term receivables
    Principal  – 1,260,796 1,260,796 1,260,796 9,882,307 13,664,695
    Interest – 1,125,594 999,514 873,434 2,529,914 5,528,456
 2,238,560,220 1,308,394,536 34,892,676 469,864,812 12,412,221 4,064,124,465
AFS securities
Quoted shares – – 17,858,708 – – 17,858,708
Unquoted shares – 58,414,854 26,671,981 – – 85,086,835
 – 58,414,854 44,530,689 – – 102,945,543
 P2,238,560,220 P1,366,809,390 P79,423,365 P469,864,812 P12,412,221 P4,167,070,008

The table summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 based on contractual undiscounted payments (both 
principal and interest).

  2009 
 On Demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total
Accounts payable and accrued 
  expenses P851,061,123 P295,262,889 P− P− P− P1,146,324,012
Bank loans
  Peso loan − 1,174,617,298 − − − 1,174,617,298
  Interest − 21,123,770 − − − 21,123,770
Long-term debt
  Peso loan − 143,333,334 478,678,905 − − 622,012,239
  Interest − 44,250,394 33,081,860 − − 77,332,254
Due to related parties 18,484,047 − − − − 18,484,047
 P869,545,170 P1,678,587,685 P511,760,765 P− P− P3,059,893,620

  2008 
 On Demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total
Accounts payable and accrued expenses P934,661,947 P322,561,292 P− P− P− P1,257,223,239
Bank loans
  Peso loan − 1,342,900,000 − − − 1,342,900,000
  Interest − 22,911,477 − − − 22,911,477
Long-term debt
  Peso loan − 143,333,333 143,333,333 181,053,321 − 467,719,987
  Interest  24,962,384 14,727,205 4,407,205 − 44,096,794
Due to related parties 6,045,336 − − − − 6,045,336
 P940,707,283 P1,856,668,486 P158,060,538 P185,460,526 P− P3,140,896,833
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  2007 
 On Demand < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total
Accounts payable and accrued expenses P794,681,939 P148,790,368 P− P− P− P943,472,307
Bank loans
  Peso loan − 1,005,375,000 − − − 1,005,375,000
  Interest − 18,988,328 − − − 18,988,328
Long-term debt
  Peso loan − 10,000,000 143,333,333 143,333,333 199,371,915 496,038,581
  Interest − − 29,219,534 17,238,822 5,158,822 51,617,178
Due to related parties 7,642,536 – − − − 7,642,536
 P802,324,475 P1,183,153,696 P172,552,867 P160,572,155 P204,530,737 P2,523,133,930

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates (interest rate risk), foreign 
exchange rates (foreign currency risk) and market prices (equity price risk).

•	 Interest Rate Risk
 The Group’s exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s variable short-term and long-term obligations. The Group follows 

prudent policies in managing its exposures to interest rate fluctuations, and constantly monitors its assets and liabilities. The Group also monitors its exposure to 
fluctuations in interest rates by using scenario analysis to estimate the impact of interest rate movements on its interest income and expense.

 The Group is exposed to receivables and borrowings with floating interest rates. The long-term receivable from EEI Retirement Fund, Inc. is earning interest based on 
bank’s internal average lending rate. As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the outstanding principal amounted to P466.0 million with last floating rate of 7.50%, 
8.00% and 8.82%, respectively.

 The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 that are exposed to interest 
rate risk:

 < 1 year 1 to < 2 years 2 to < 3 years >3 years Total
2009 P143,333,334 P178,678,905 P− P− P322,012,239
2008 143,333,333 143,333,333 181,053,321 − 467,719,987
2007 10,000,000 143,333,333 143,333,333 199,371,915 496,038,581

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the 
impact on floating rate borrowings).
  2009  
 Increase/decrease  Effect on profit
  in basis points before tax
Peso floating rate receivables  +100 P4,659,611
  -100 (4,659,611)
Peso floating rate borrowings  +100 (3,220,122)
  -100 3,220,122

  2008  
  Increase/decrease Effect on profit
  in basis points before tax
Peso floating rate receivables  +100 P4,659,611
  -100 (4,659,611)
Peso floating rate borrowings  +100 (4,677,200)
  -100 4,677,200

  2007  
  Increase/decrease Effect on profit
  in basis points before tax
Peso floating rate receivables  +100 P4,659,611
  -100 (4,659,611)
Peso floating rate borrowings  +100 (4,960,386)
  -100 4,960,386

There are no other effects of the interest rate sensitivity on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the consolidated statements of income.

•	 Foreign Currency Risk
 Currency risk is the potential decline in the value of the financial instruments due to exchange rate fluctuations. The Group’s currency arise mainly from cash and 

receivables which are denominated in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency or will be denominated in such a currency.
 
 In 2009 and 2008, the Parent Company incurred a loss arising from its foreign exchange agreements with certain financial institutions. The loss is included in the 

“Foreign exchange loss - net” account in the consolidated statement of income.  This loss was offset with the foreign exchange gains arising from the Group’s foreign 
exchange receipts.
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 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar (USD), Singaporean dollar (SGD), Japanese yen (YEN) and Euro 
(EUR) currency rates, with all variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities):

  2009  
  Percentage 
  increase/decrease  Effect on profit
  in foreign currency before tax
  USD  +2.6% P13,115,189
  SGD  +3.9% 11,856,191
  EUR  +1.5% 167,484

  USD  -2.6% (P13,115,189)
  SGD  -3.9% (11,856,191)
  EUR  -1.5% (167,484)

  2008  
  Percentage 
  increase/decrease  Effect on profit
  in foreign currency before tax
  USD  +15.0% P25,346,598
  SGD  +15.0% (774,631)
  EUR  +9.0% 407,115
  YEN  +5.0% (14,956)

  USD  -15.0% (P25,346,598)
  SGD  -15.0% 774,631
  EUR  -9.0% (407,115)
  YEN  -5.0% 14,956

  2007  
  Percentage 
  increase/decrease  Effect on profit
  in foreign currency before tax
  USD  +5.0% P9,028,465
  SGD  +5.0% 80,420
  EUR  +5.0% 57,368

  USD  -5.0% (P9,028,465)
  SGD  -5.0% (80,420)
  EUR  -5.0% (57,368)

There are no other effects of the foreign currency sensitivity on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the consolidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities in original currencies and equivalents to the functional 
and presentation currency are as follows: 

  2009 
   Equivalents in
 USD SGD EUR PHP
Financial assets    
  Cash and cash equivalents $6,246,700 $2,560,281 €119,725 P381,341,543
  Receivables - net 6,926,571 6,620,440 48,322 542,447,354
 13,173,271 9,180,721 168,047 923,788,897
Financial liabilities    
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,254,865 − 200 104,763,132
 $10,918,406 $9,180,721 €167,847 P819,025,765

  2008 
     Equivalents in
 USD SGD EUR YEN PHP
Financial assets     
  Cash and cash equivalents $1,979,949 $56,312 €7,826 ¥− P97,642,577
  Receivables - net 2,402,460 − 60,457 − 118,722,821
 4,382,409 56,312 68,283 − 216,365,398
Financial liabilities     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 826,489 214,093 − 572,900 39,893,393
 $3,555,920 ($157,781) €68,283 (¥572,900) P176,472,005
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  2007  
   Equivalents in
 USD SGD EUR PHP
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents $1,556,425 $56,312 €18,947 P52,516,334
Receivables - net 3,214,965 − − 131,829,066
 4,771,390 56,312 18,947 184,345,400
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 397,134 − − 19,678,459
 $4,374,256 $56,312 €18,947 P164,666,941

•	 Equity Price Risk
 The Group’s equity price risk exposure at year-end relates to financial assets whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, principally, equity securities 

classified as AFS securities.

 Quoted AFS securities are subject to price risk due to changes in market values of instruments arising either from factors specific to individual instruments or their issuers 
or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in the PSE index with all other variables held constant, showing the impact on equity:

  2009  
Market Index  Change in variable Effect on equity
PSE  +55% P6,352,729
  -55% (6,352,729)
Others  +6% 325,500
  -6% (325,500)

  2008  
Market Index  Change in variable Effect on equity
PSE  +30% P4,151,719
  -30% (4,151,719)
Others  +30% 1,665,000
  -30% (1,665,000)

  2007  
Market Index  Change in variable Effect on equity
PSE  +20% P4,095,058
  -20% (4,095,058)
Others  +20% 1,272,000
  -20% (1,272,000)

  
The impact of sensitivity of equity prices on the Group’s equity already excludes the impact on transactions affecting the consolidated statement of income.

Capital Management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for the years ended December 31, 2009, 
2008 and 2007.

The Group monitors capital using a debt to equity ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total equity. Although some of the Group’s loan agreements with banks provide for 
a maximum debt-to-equity ratio of 5:1, the Group’s policy is to maintain it at a lower ratio.

   2009 2008 2007
 Current liabilities  P4,404,205,540 P4,663,569,777 P3,613,354,081
 Noncurrent liabilities  516,449,831 412,650,965 604,431,221
 Total liabilities (a)  4,920,655,371 5,076,220,742 4,217,785,302
 Equity (b)   3,255,850,746 2,762,766,057 2,245,365,540
 Debt to Equity Ratio (a/b)  1.51:1 1.84:1 1.88:1

33. Commitments and Contingencies 

a. Lease Commitments

 1.  Operating Lease Commitment - as a Lessee
 The Group has entered into operating lease agreements with MRC, a related party, for the rental of its various transportation equipment.
 Future minimum rental payables under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows:
     2009 2008 2007
   Within one year  P8,805,732 P8,805,732 P3,861,670
   After one year but not more than 5 years  10,610,483 19,416,215 10,868,042
   Total  P19,416,215 P28,221,947 P14,729,712

Rental expense charged to consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 amounted to P7.9 million, P5.6 million and 
P0.6 million, respectively.  
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 2. Finance Lease Commitment - as Lessee
  The Group entered into finance lease transactions with FMLFC, a related party, for the lease of its various construction machineries and equipment.
  Future minimum lease payments under finance lease with the present value of minimum lease payments are as follows:

   2009 2008 2007
 Within one year  P24,296,988 P35,227,983 P25,408,952
 After one year but not more than 5 years  39,146,786 90,293,394 87,346,234
 Total minimum lease payment  63,443,774 125,521,377 112,755,186
 Less amounts representing finance charges  32,204,925 44,963,569 8,142,271
 Present value of minimum lease payments  P31,238,849 P80,557,808 P104,612,915

b. Surety Arrangement and Guarantees

 The Parent Company is contingently liable for guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business, including performance, surety and warranty bonds for various construction 
projects amounting to P2.1 billion, P0.7 billion and P0.9 billion as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

c. Sale of Generated Power

 On May 12, 1994, EEI Power entered into a service agreement (the Agreement) with Creative Diecast Philippines Corporation (CDPC), a domestic corporation, for which the 
Company has agreed to provide primary power supply to CDPC for 10 years starting September 1995 through the establishment of a power station (the Power Plant) in Bo. 
Maduya, Carmona, Cavite.  In September 2005, the Agreement was extended for another five years until September 2010.

 In July 2008, EEI Power and CDPC entered into a Deed of Early Termination of the Agreement for a net gain amounting to P7.8 million after removal cost and derecognition 
of the Power Plant and its related supplies and parts inventory with carrying value of P5.1 million.

d. Standby Letters of Credit

 The Parent Company has outstanding irrevocable domestic standby letters of credit amounting to P44.1 million in 2009 and P3.0 million both in 2008 and 2007 from local 
banks which are used for bidding and as a guarantee for the down payments received from its ongoing construction projects. The Parent Company also has outstanding 
irrevocable foreign standby letters of credit amounting to SGD8.6 million and $1.0 million in 2009.

e. Contingencies

 There are pending legal cases against the Group that are being contested by the Group and its legal counsels.  Management and its legal counsels believe that the final 
resolutions of these cases will not have a material effect on the financial position and operating results of the Group.

34. Stock Rights Offering 

On January 15, 2007, the Parent Company filed with SEC a Registration Statement in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Regulations Code covering additional 
120 million common shares issuance via a pre-emptive stock rights offer as approved by the BOD in its meeting on January 2, 2007. On the same date, the Parent Company 
also filed an Application for Listing of the offered 120 million common shares with the PSE. The applications for listing with the PSE and Registration Statement with the SEC 
were approved on February 14, 2007 and March 8, 2007, respectively.  The offer entitles every existing shareholder as of March 8, 2007 one (1) share for every 7.6257 
common shares held at an offer price of P4.50 per share. The total 120 million shares offered was fully subscribed with total gross proceeds of P540.0 million.  The issued 
shares were listed with the PSE on March 23, 2007.  The excess of the subscription price over the par value net of underwriting expenses amounting to P405.2 million was 
recognized as an additional paid-in capital.

35. Reclassification of Accounts 

Certain property, plant and equipment in the prior year consolidated financial statements were reclassified to investment property to conform to the current year’s presentation.  
The properties reclassified in 2008 and 2007 amounted to P13.1 million and P10.8 million, respectively.  

36. Notes on Statements of Cash Flows 

a. In 2009, noncash investing activities represent investment properties acquired as settlement of receivables amounting to P76.3 million (see Note 12).
b. Movements in receivables and inventories include write-off of receivables and write-down of inventories which are noncash in nature (see Notes 5 and 7).

37. Events after the Reporting Period 

Newly Incorporated Subsidiary
On January 25, 2010, EEI Corporation (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (EEI Singapore), a wholly owned subsidiary of CJIL, was incorporated in Singapore.  EEI Singapore is engaged in 
the business of general contracting and specialty construction services, fabrication and production of equipment systems for property development and infrastructure sectors.  

Cash Dividends
The BOD of the Parent Company in its meeting held on March 19, 2010 declared a cash dividend of P0.10 per share to common stockholders of record broken down as 
follows:

Record Date Payment Date Amount 
April 8, 2010 April 30, 2010 P0.025 per share
June 4, 2010 June 30, 2010 P0.025 per share
September 6, 2010 September 30, 2010 P0.025 per share
December 3, 2010 December 29, 2010 P0.025 per share
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Quarterly high, low, and closing prices of 
EEI shares in 2009

High Low Close
First Quarter  1.30 0.78 1.24
Second Quarter 1.94 1.18 1.56
Third Quarter  2.96 1.56 2.32
Fourth Quarter  2.70 2.26 2.44

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
The Annual Meeting is held every third Friday of June. In 2010, the Meeting will be 
on June 18, 2010 at 10:00 AM at the RCBC Plaza, Ayala Avenue, Makati City.

SHARE LISTING
The shares of the registrant are traded at the Philippine 
Stock Exchange, Inc.  The number of common shares 
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2009 is 
1,036,281,485.

There are approximately 3,614 stockholders.

INVESTOR INQUIRIES
For questions regarding shareholder accounts stock 
certificates, dividends, and account status, please write or 
call the Company’s Stock Transfer agent:

RCBC Stock Transfer
GPL (Grepalife) Building
Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue
Makati City
Tel. No. 894-9000
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